

LUND UNIVERSITY

Bridging microbiology and therapy in conditions with damaged skin barrier

Lundgren, Sigrid

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Lundgren, S. (2024). *Bridging microbiology and therapy in conditions with damaged skin barrier*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

SIGRID LUNDGREN DEPARTMENT OF DERMATOLOGY AND VENEREOLOGY | LUND UNIVERSITY



Sigrid Lundgren



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on 17 of May at 09.00 in Belfragesalen, BMC D15, Klinikgatan 32, Lund

Faculty opponent

Associate Professor Jakob Wikström, Department of Medicine, Dermato-Venereology Unit, Karolinska Institutet, Solna

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY Document name:Doctoral dissertation

Date of issue: 2024-05-17

Author(s): Sigrid Lundgren

Sponsoring organization: None

Title and subtitle: Bridging microbiology and therapy in conditions with damaged skin barrier **Abstract:** Atopic dermatitis (AD) is one of the most common inflammatory skin diseases characterized by an impaired skin barrier. This makes it prone to colonization by *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*), which can exacerbate the condition. Wounds are also common conditions, associated with considerable challenges and exhibit damaged skin barriers. The process of wound healing is delicate and complex, involving a nuanced interplay between skin microflora and host mechanisms.

The overarching aim of this thesis is to investigate therapeutic strategies and underlying mechanisms that impact conditions associated with impaired skin barriers, including atopic dermatitis and the process of epidermal wound healing.

Paper I explored the antimicrobial and anti-biofilm properties of sodium hypochlorite, while Paper II delved into those of potassium permanganate against *S. aureus* isolates from patients with AD. Paper III is a study protocol for a prospective, randomized, double-blinded, first-in-human, placebo-controlled clinical trial testing the tolerability of a novel wound gel. Paper IV considered the control wounds from this trial, exploring the dynamics of bacteria, inflammation and exudation during the healing of epidermal wounds.

In Paper I, sodium hypochlorite showed antibacterial effects against planktonic *S. aureus* at concentrations of 0.01-0.08%. Reduction of *S. aureus* biofilm formation was seen from a concentration of 0.0219%, and eradication of *S. aureus* biofilm was observed at concentrations ranging from 0.01% to 0.16%.

In Paper II planktonic *S. aureus* was killed at potassium permanganate concentrations of 0.05%. Biofilm formations were inhibited when subjected to a concentration of 0.01%, whereas biofilm eradication was observed at concentrations of 1% or above.

Paper IV observed a rapid increase in bacteria following epidermal wounding, which stabilized by the Day 8. The microbial composition, identified by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry, consisted mainly of commensal bacteria. Peaks in inflammatory cytokines and neutrophil proteins were seen on Day 5 and did not correlate to the amount of bacteria in the wound.

Key words: Atopic dermatitis, *Staphylococcus aureus,* biofilm, epidermal wound healing Language: English

ISSN and key title:

1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:65

ISBN: 978-91-8021-559-6

Recipient's notes

Number of pages: 88

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Signan

Date 2024-04-04

Sigrid Lundgren



Coverphoto by Sigrid Lundgren Copyright pp 1-88 Sigrid Lundgren

Paper 1 © British Journal of Dermatology Paper 2 © Acta Dermato-Venereologica Paper 3 © BMJ Open Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine, Lund University Department of Dermatology and Venereology, Skane University Hospital

ISBN 978-91-8021-559-6 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2024



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



In memory of my beloved, and ever-encouraging grandmother

Kjerstin Eriksson, 1927 – 2012

"Turn your wounds into wisdom" Oprah Winfrey

Table of Contents

Abstract	
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	11
List of Papers	14
Related papers not included in the thesis	
Abbreviations	16
Introduction	17
The human skin	17
The immune system	
Skin microbiome	19
Staphylococcus aureus	
Staphylococcus epidermidis	
Atopic dermatitis	
Topical treatments	
Wounds and wound healing	
Aims	
Material and methods	
Background	
Study design	
Formation of suction blister wounds	
Microbiological methods	42
Biofilm assays	
Cell methods	47
Protein analyses	49
Ethical approval	
Ethical considerations	
Statistical analyses	

Results	53
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	59
Discussion	64
Paper I	64
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	67
Main conclusions	
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	70
Future perspectives	71
Acknowledgements	73
References	

Abstract

Atopic dermatitis (AD) is one of the most common inflammatory skin diseases characterized by an impaired skin barrier. This makes it prone to colonization by *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*), which can exacerbate the disease. Wounds are also common conditions, associated with considerable challenges and exhibit damaged skin barriers. The process of wound healing is delicate and complex, involving a nuanced interplay between skin microflora and host mechanisms.

The overarching aim of this thesis is to investigate therapeutic strategies and underlying mechanisms that impact conditions associated with impaired skin barriers, including atopic dermatitis and the process of epidermal wound healing.

Paper I explored the antimicrobial and anti-biofilm properties of sodium hypochlorite, while Paper II delved into those of potassium permanganate against *S. aureus* isolates from patients with AD. Paper III is a study protocol for a prospective, randomized, double-blinded, first-in-human, placebo-controlled clinical trial testing the tolerability of a novel wound gel. Paper IV considered the control wounds from this trial, exploring the dynamics of bacteria, inflammation and exudation during the healing of epidermal wounds.

In Paper I, sodium hypochlorite showed antibacterial effects against planktonic *S. aureus* at concentrations of 0.01-0.08%. Reduction of *S. aureus* biofilm formation was seen from a concentration of 0.0219%, and eradication of *S. aureus* biofilm was observed at concentrations ranging from 0.01% to 0.16%.

In Paper II planktonic *S. aureus* was killed at potassium permanganate concentrations of 0.05%. Biofilm formations were inhibited when subjected to a concentration of 0.01%, whereas biofilm eradication was observed at concentrations of 1% or above.

Paper IV observed a rapid increase in bacterial numbers following epidermal wounding, which stabilized by the Day 8. The microbial composition, identified by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry, consisted mainly of commensal bacteria. Peaks in inflammatory cytokines and neutrophil proteins were seen on Day 5 and did not correlate to the amount of bacteria in the wound.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Atopisk dermatit (AD), som även kallas atopiskt eksem, är en av de vanligaste inflammatoriska hudsjukdomarna och drabbar ungefär vart femte barn och ses hos ca 2-10% av vuxna. AD karaktäriseras av röda utslag, eksem, som ofta uppstår i arm- eller knäveck. Sjukdomen är förenad med nedsatt livskvalitet, klåda och försämrad sömnkvalitet. Vid AD har man en försvagad hudbarriär som inte fungerar som den skall. En rad faktorer bidrar till utvecklingen av AD, inklusive ärftlighet, miljöfaktorer, förändringar i immunsystemet samt obalans bland hudens mikroorganismer, vanligen kallat mikrobiomet.

Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) är en bakterie som påverkar utvecklingen och svårighetsgraden av AD. Denna bakterier återfinns betydligt oftare i huden hos personer med AD jämfört med friska individer. S. aureus har utvecklat flera överlevnadsstrategier, bland annat har den en förmåga att skapa biofilm, en sorts samhälle av bakterier som omges av en självproducerad, skyddande substans. Denna biofilm bidrar till bakteriernas överlevnad genom att öka deras motståndskraft mot såväl det mänskliga immunförsvaret som behandlingar med antibiotika, något som kan resultera i utmaningar vid behandling. Man har set kopplingar mellan förekomst av S. aureus biofilm och svårighetsgraden av AD.

Behandling vid AD syftar till att angripa angriper faktorer, däribland att reducera mängden *S. aureus* för att förbättra förmågan att läka eksemen. Med tanke på problematiken med antibiotikaresistens, finns det ett behov av effektiva antibakteriella behandlingar som inte främjar resistensutveckling.

De två substanserna natriumhypoklorit (hushållsklorin) och kaliumpermanganat har använts under många år för att behandla eksem som bedömts vara bakteriellt belastade. Både patienter och hälsovårdspersonal rapporterar ofta om positiva effekter av dessa behandlingar men det finns trots detta relativt lite vetenskapligt underlag som styrker att behandlingarna är effektiva. Ännu mindre vet man om ämnenas effekt mot *S. aureus* biofilm.

En skadad hudbarriär ses även vid sår. Det finns många olika tillstånd som innefattar sårbildning, och dessa är ofta förknippade med försämrad livskvalité och höga kostnader för samhället. Sårläkning är en komplex process i flera faser där olika celltyper och signalmolekyler är involverade. Hudens mikrobiom tros också spela en roll i denna process. Hur bakterier och kroppsegna faktorer förhåller sig till varandra vid normal sårläkning är dock sparsamt utrett.

Det övergripande syftet med denna avhandling var att undersöka behandlingar och grundläggande mekanismer vid dessa tillstånd med skadad hudbarriär.

I delarbete I undersökte vi natriumhypoklorits antibakteriella effekter samt dess påverkan på biofilm bildad av *S. aureus* från patienter med AD. Bakterierna odlades upp och utsattes i labbmiljö för natriumhypoklorit i olika koncentrationer. Vi kunde visa att natriumhypoklorit har en dosberoende antibakteriell effekt mot fria *S. aureus* (som inte är i biofilm). Vidare sågs att natriumhypoklorit från en koncentration av 0.02% har en kraftfullt hämmande effekt mot biofilmsproduktion samt nedbrytning av etablerad biofilm från *S.aureus*. Detta får jämföras med den vedertagna koncentrationen 0.005% som ofta används i kliniken. Mot bakgrund av våra resultat skulle man därför kunna överväga att gå upp i koncentration för effektivare biofilmsbekämpning. Dock testades natriumhypoklorit även mot odlade hudceller, och där observerades en negativ påverkan vid dessa, högre koncentrationer. Sammantaget behöver man vara försiktig med att rekommendera en ökade koncentration och fler studier kan komma att krävas för väga riskerna mot de terapeutiska fördelarna.

I delarbete II undersökte vi på liknande sätt om kaliumpermanganat har en antibakteriell eller biofilmshämmande effekt gentemot *S. aureus* från patienter med AD. Studien visade att effekten mot fria bakterier var god i de koncentrationer som används kliniskt idag. Däremot konstaterades att substansen är ineffektivt mot att bryta ned etablerad biofilm. Resultaten stödjer fortsatt användning av kaliumpermanganat för behandling av eksempatienter då det sannolikt minskar bakteriermängden. Dock bör man bör ha i åtanke att behandling av biofilmer kan kräva tilläggsbehandling.

Delarbete III är ett studieprotokoll för en klinisk prövning där vi för första gången hos människa utvärderade säkerheten och toleransen för en ny sårgel innehållande proteinet TCP-25. I studien deltog 24 friska, frivilliga personer som samtliga fick tillverkat fyra ytliga sår på låren. Därefter behandlades två av såren med sårgelen och de andra två fick placebo. Deltagarna följdes under 15 dagar, under vilka vi tog prover för att undersöka eventuellt upptag av TCP-25 i blodet samt tecken på biverkningar. Vidare togs bakteriella prover från sårytan och förbanden samt nogsamt dokumentation av sårläkningen.

Delarbete IV bygger på observationer och data insamlat från de placebobehandlade såren i tidigare nämnda studie (delarbete III). Målet med delarbete IV var att undersöka dynamiken mellan bakterier, inflammation och sårvätskning under läkningsprocessen av ytliga, så kallade epidermala sår. Resultaten visade att bakteriemängden tenderade att öka fram till dag 8 för att sedan avta till dag 11. I såren påvisades främst harmlösa bakterier, så kallade kommensaler, även om *S. aureus* noterades i några fall. De bakterier som vi såg med hjälp av prover från sårytan förekom även i sårförbanden. Proteinmängden i förbanden användes som ett mått på sårens vätskning. Ingen tydlig korrelation observerades mellan sårvätskans mängd och bakteriehalten. Inte heller såg vi något samband mellan bakteriemängden och inflammationsmarkörer. Detta tyder på att läkningsprocessen i normala ytliga sår till stor del styrs av kroppens egna mekanismer oberoende av bakterierförekomst. Denna avhandling har bidragit med ökad förståelse för vanligt förekommande behandlingar som syftar till att minska bakteriebördan vid AD. Vidare har vi kartlagt den komplexa processen vid epidermal sårläkning. För att fullt ut utnyttja dessa rön krävs vidare forskning, patientstudier och test av nya behandlingsstrategier.

List of Papers

Paper I

Eriksson S, van der Plas MJA , Mörgelin M , Sonesson A

Antibacterial and antibiofilm effects of sodium hypochlorite against *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates derived from patients with atopic dermatitis. *British Journal of Dermatology*. 2017 Aug;177(2):513-521

Paper II

Lundgren S, Sonesson A.

The Effect of Potassium Permanganate on Staphylococcal Isolates Derived from the Skin of Patients with Atopic Dermatitis. *Acta Derm Venereol.* 2024;104:adv18642

Paper III

Lundgren S, Wallblom K, Fisher J, Erdmann S, Schmidtchen A, Saleh K

Study protocol for a phase 1, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study to investigate the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of ascending topical doses of TCP-25 applied to epidermal suction blister wounds in healthy male and female volunteers. *BMJ Open.* 2023 feb 22;13(2):e064866.

Paper IV

Lundgren S, Petruk G, Wallblom K, Cardoso J, Strömdahl AC, Forsberg F, Luo C, Nilson Bo, Hartman E, Fisher J, Puthia M, Saleh K, Schmidtchen A.

Analysis of bacteria, inflammation, and exudation in epidermal suction blister wounds reveals dynamic changes during wound healing

In manuscript

Related papers not included in the thesis

Wallblom K, Lundgren S, Saleh K, Schmidtchen A, Puthia M.

Image-based non-invasive assessment of suction blister wounds for clinical safety and efficacy. *Wound Repair Regen*. 2024

Sonesson A, Przybyszewska K, Eriksson S, Morgelin M, Kjellstrom S, Davies J, et al.

Identification of bacterial biofilm and the *Staphylococcus aureus* derived protease, staphopain, on the skin surface of patients with atopic dermatitis. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):8689.

Abbreviations

AD	atopic dermatitis	
AMP	antimicrobial peptide	
APC	antigen presenting cell	
CFU	colony-forming units	
CV	crystal violet	
DALY	Disability-Adjusted Life Year	
DLQI	Dermatology Life Quality Index	
EASI	Eczema Area and Severity Index	
EPS	extracellular polymeric substances	
FLG	filaggrin gene	
HBP	heparin-binding protein	
HOCl	hypochlorous acid	
IgG	immunoglobulin G	
IgE	immunoglobulin E	
IL	interleukin	
MALDI-TOF Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time-of-Flight		
MBEC	minimum biofilm eradication concentration	
MHC	major histocompatibility complex	
MIC	minimum inhibitory concentration	
MPO	myeloperoxidase	
NE	neutrophil elastase	
OCl -	hypochlorite ion	
PDGF	Platelet-Derived Growth Factor	
QS	Quorum sensing	
SEA	<i>staphylococcal</i> enterotoxin A	
SEB	<i>staphylococcal</i> enterotoxin B	
SEM	scanning electron microscopy	
SCORAD	SCORing Atopic Dermatits	
TEWL	transepidermal water loss	
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor-alpha	

Introduction

The human skin

The human skin is one of the largest organs of the body, with a surface area of 1.5- 2.0 m^2 . Functioning as the initial barrier between an organism and its environment, the skin plays a crucial role against external threats. It enables sensation, thermoregulation and facilitates metabolic processes. With a diversity in structure and function, the skin is composed of three fundamental layers: epidermis, dermis and subcutis (Figure 1). The epidermis, the outermost layer, consists primarily of keratinocytes. These cells undergo a process of keratinization in which they differentiate, lose their nucleus and migrate from the basal layer to the surface forming the cornified stratum corneum (1). This semipermeable surface is capable of enduring mechanical forces and serves as protection against the penetration of pathogens and chemicals. The lower, nucleated parts of the epidermidis also play a significant role in barrier function with cell-cell junctions and lipid production fundamental to preventing water loss (2, 3). Other specialized cells in the epidermis are melanocytes which produce pigment, antigen-presenting Langerhans cells, Merkle cells involved in sensory reception and resident T cells, part of the adaptive immune system (1).

The dermis, situated beneath the epidermis, is a vascularized connective tissue layer providing the skin with structural support, elasticity and nutrition. It is histologically divided into two distinct but connected regions. The superficial part, the papillary dermis is recognized for its fine collagen fibrils and plentiful ground substance. By extending fingerlike projections, known as papillae, towards the epidermis, the surface area for nutrient transport across the two layers is increased. Located below the papillary dermis is the reticular dermis. This is characterized by its dense, irregularly organized collagen fibers. A multitude of nerve endings are also found in the dermis, along with sweat and sebaceous glands, hair follicles, lymphatic structures and blood vessels (1).

The deepest layer of the skin, the subcutis, consists of adipocytes distributed in looser connective tissue. It functions as thermal insulation, energy reserve and protective padding.

An impaired skin barrier can have substantial implications for comfort and health and is seen in a wide range of dermatological conditions such as atopic dermatitis and wounds (4).



Figure 1 – Anatomy of human skin

The three layers of the skin, epidermis, dermis and subcutis. Created with BioRender.com

The immune system

The immune system is an essential protective system comprising an array of cell types and signal molecules to defend against pathogens. It is divided into the innate and adaptive immune systems. Innate immunity is characterized by its immediate but unspecific response to pathogens (5). Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are structures on pathogens recognized through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) expressed by macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils and epithelial cells (6). This recognition initiates the innate immune response, stimulating the production of signal molecules and serves to recruit additional immune cells and enhance phagocytosis (7).

The adaptive immune system, also known as the acquired immune system, has a longer activation time but offers a more specific response and develops an immunological memory. Unlike the innate immune system, it generally requires a prior exposure to the pathogen to initiate a response. The key cells of the adaptive immune system are the B- and T-lymphocytes, commonly called B- and T-cells (5).

Antigens are molecules from pathogens and non-pathogenic substances like pollen, food proteins and dust mites. When entering the body, the antigen encounters antigen presenting cells (APCs) like dendritic cells, macrophages and B-cells. The APCs process the antigen into smaller peptides and display them on their surface, bound to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules (7).

T-cells that haven't faced their specific antigen, so called naïve T-cells, circulate the bloodstream and lymphoid organs. When they encounter an APC that presents an antigen that is matches its T-cell receptor (TCR), they bind with this to the MHC. This interaction, combined with co-stimulatory molecules (the most well-known being CD28 on T-cells and CD80 and CD86 on APC) leads to an activation, differentiation and proliferation of the T-cell. There are two main subcategories of the naïve T-cells; these are distinguished based on specific cell surface proteins (CD4 and CD8) and differentiate into various subsets. The CD4+ T-cell differentiate into different helper T-cells (Th1, Th2, Th17, regulatory Treg) that can secrete various signal molecules, cytokines that regulate the inflammatory response. CD8+ T-cells differentiate into cytotoxic T-cells responsible for killing infected or abnormal cells (7-9).

The B-cells are essential to the humoral immune response. Upon antigen binding to B-cell receptors (BCRs) on the cell surface, B-cells become activated. Subsequently, the activated B-cell transforms into a plasma cell, generating large quantities of specific antibodies. These antibodies bind to the pathogen, neutralizing it and tagging it for destruction (5, 9).

Skin microbiome

The skin hosts millions of bacteria, fungi, and viruses - commonly called the skin microbiome or microbiota (10, 11). These microorganisms, the commensals, are essential to maintaining of immune homeostasis and inhibiting the growth of pathogens by production of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) and proteases (12, 13).

Of all commensal communities of the body, the skin harbors the most diverse, comprising over 1,000 distinct bacterial species (14, 15). The microbial populations differ in quantity and composition across various body sites. Using traditional culture methods, the average microbial count ranges from 10^3 to 10^4 colony forming units (CFU)/cm², but in moister regions, like the groins, armpits and knee creases,

microbial counts can exceed 10^6 CFU/cm² (16). A study found that more than 90% of the skin bacteria belongs to four phyla: Actinobacteria (52%), Firmicutes (24%), Proteobacteria (16%), and Bacteroidetes (6%) (15). Further investigations of healthy adult skin have demonstrated that *Staphylococcus* and *Corynebacterium* species are frequently found in humid places, whereas lipophilic *Cutibacterium* species are abundant in sebaceous areas, like the face, chest and back. These bacteria produce lipases that break down sebum lipids into fatty acids, which then serve as a food source. This process also acidifies the skin, helping to maintain a skin pH that combats pathogenic bacteria. Drier areas of the skin, like the forearm and buttocks, tends to have a higher diversity of microbial species and are also less stable over time (15, 17, 18).

S. aureus is a species that regularly appears in the microbiota, sometimes as a commensal but is also associated with skin disorders; especially when the skin barrier is compromised, as in atopic dermatitis or wounds (19). When wounds occur, they provide and entry point for microorganisms to infiltrate underlying tissues (20, 21). Commensal microorganisms' interactions during wound healing are believed to promote the innate system, while pathogens may hinder the process, leading to delayed healing (21-23).

Children exhibit a more diverse microbial composition compared to adults. However, during puberty, there is a compositional shift (24). In adulthood, the microbial makeup remains relatively stable despite continuous exposure to external microorganisms from the surroundings and other individuals (25).

Staphylococcus aureus

Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) is a Gram-positive bacterium, characterized by its rounded coccoid shape and ability to form clusters resembling grapes when observed under a microscope. The bacteria was first described in the 1880's by the surgeon Alexander Ogston who discovered the bacteria in pus from surgical abscesses (26). Over a century later, *S. aureus* continues to be an adaptable and dangerous pathogen in humans responsible for a wide array of infections in multiple organ systems. *S. aureus* is found as a commensal in the nares in about 20-30% of the population but is known to be a risk factor for subsequent infection (27-29). In case of clinical infection, 80% of *S. aureus* strains detected in the bloodstream are consistent with the isolates found in the nares (29). Treatment of infections caused by *S. aureus* has become more challenging due to the rise of multidrug-resistant strains. It is a successful pathogen due to its many virulence mechanisms allowing it to invade host tissues and evade the immune system (30, 31) (Figure 2).



Figure 2 – Virulence factors of S .aureus

S. aurues exhibit a wide array of virulence factors that aid in adhering to to host tissue, disrupting barriers and trigger inflammatory responses. Modified from Paller et al. 2019 (31) Created with BioRender.com

Virulence mechanisms of Staphylococcus aureus

Adhesion

Enhanced adhesion, both to host tissues and medical implants, is promoted by special surface proteins such as clumping factors and fibronectin-binding proteins. Clumping factor A (ClfA) is a fibrinogen-binding protein that facilitates platelet aggregation and clumping of the bacteria; an important process for infiltrating host cells. By binding to fibrinogen, ClfA can also shield the bacteria from opsonization and neutrophil phagocytosis (32, 33). Clumping factor B (ClfB) binds predominantly to cytokeratin 10, a protein in squamous epithelial cells of the skin and nasal epithelium (32). Fibronectin-binding proteins (FnBP) A and B assist in bacterial invasion of host cells by binding to the glycoprotein fibronectin found in blood and connective tissues (34).

Destruction of host cells

Alpha toxin is an important virulence factor that destroys a wide range of host cells by producing pores in their membranes. By disrupting adherence junctions, the toxin also breaches epithelial and endothelial integrity (35). In addition *S. aureus* also produces extracellular proteases, such as V8, staphopain and aureolysin, all of which contribute to the breakdown of host proteins, assisting in tissue invasion, and modulate host immune response (36).

Evading the immune system

Many strains of *S. aureus* produce a protective polysaccharide capsule, which surrounds the peptidoglycan cell wall that serves as an antiphagocytic barrier. For effective phagocytosis, the immune system marks the bacteria with antibodies and complement components, a process called opsonization (37). Protein A is a surface protein that binds to the Fc portion of immunoglobulin G (IgG) and thereby protects the bacteria from being recognized and destroyed by the immune defence (38). Another way to escape the immune system is to produce leukocidins, which are toxins that destroy leukocytes (39). Another known virulence factor is coagulase, which is an enzyme that converts fibrinogen into fibrin, leading to the formation of blood clots (coagulation) around the bacteria and thus inhibiting phagocytosis (40). *S. aureus* can also produce varying amounts of biofilm. This is an efficient way of protecting the bacteria from phagocytosis (41). Biofilm formation will be discussed more in depth in subsequent sections.

Exfoliative toxins

Some strains of *S. aureus* produce exfoliative toxins, resulting in staphylococcal scaled skin syndrome (SSSS) characterized by extensive blistering and peeling of the skin. The toxins responsible, exfoliative toxin A (ETA) and exfoliative toxin B (ETB), target desmoglein-1, a key component of desmosomes, and lead to disruption of cell-cell adhesion and detachment of keratinocytes (42).

Staphylococcal superantigens and toxins

S. aureus produces superantigenic toxins. These activate a large number of T-cells, non-specifically leading to immense cytokine release and systemic effects. Toxic shock syndrome toxin 1 (TSST-1) is infamous for being the cause of the dreaded toxic shock syndrome associated with tampon use, by creating an environment in which toxin-producing S. aureus thrives (43). Other examples of superantigenic toxins are the staphylococcal enterotoxins A and B (SEA, SEB), best known for their role in food poisoning. However, they can also implicate skin health by exacerbating inflammatory responses (44). Another set of toxins comprises the phenol-soluble modulins (PSMs) which are amphipathic peptides divided into two groups: α -type PSMs and β -type PSMs. PSM α stimulates the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 α and IL-36 α from keratinocytes. This activates $\gamma\delta T$ cells and trigger Th17 responses, as well as recruiting neutrophils. Moreover, certain strains of S. aureus produce a similar toxin called delta-toxin (δ - toxin), which induces mast cell degranulation and raises levels of IL-4 and IgE (45, 46).

Lipoproteins

These molecules, anchored to the cell membrane of the bacteria, play an important role in facilitating attachment to host cells. *S. aureus* lipoproteins interact with the Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) that is expressed on immune cells, such as macrophages and dendritic cells. They trigger signaling pathways that induce the production of proinflammatory cytokines like tumor necrosis factor aplpha (TNF- α), interleukin 1 β and 6 (IL-1 β , and IL-6). Inflammation is a mechanism aimed at defending against infections but can also result in skin damage and clinical manifestations of *S. aureus* skin infections (47-49).

Staphylococcal biofilm

The first report describing bacterial biofilms dates back to Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, who famously detailed his observations in a letter dated October 9, 1676. In it, he documented his investigation of what he termed "animalcules" (a historic expression referring to microscopic organisms or tiny creatures) in the dental plaque from his own teeth. He noted that the microorganisms within the plaque had a remarkable resilience to vinegar in contrast to those found outside the plaque, which were killed (50). While many characteristics had been described over time over the years, it was only in 1978 that Costerton et al. introduced the term "biofilm" (51, 52).

Bacterial biofilms consist of aggregates of sessile bacteria which, unlike their planktonic, free-flowing counterparts, are attached to biotic or abiotic surfaces or grouped together, encapsulated in a self-produced matrix. This matrix, a conglomeration of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) such as proteins, polysaccharides and extracellular DNA (eDNA), affords the bacteria with structural integrity and protection (53).

Within the biofilm, bacteria undergo alterations in their phenotype, adjusting to the environmental conditions of low oxygen and nutrient levels. Consequently, their metabolic activity is decreased and their rate of cell division reduced, leading to a lower susceptibility to cell-wall-active antibiotics like the beta-lactams (54, 55). Biofilm formation is an ancient adaptation and displays a distinctive growth strategy that enables bacteria to survive in hostile conditions and colonize new niches (55, 56).

The capability to form biofilm varies among species and even among isolates of the same species. A biofilm may consist of either of single a species or an array of microbial populations (57).

Biofilm formation

Attachment

Biofilm formation (58) (Figure 3) is a process involving multiple steps, starting with attachment. During this phase, free-floating (planktonic) bacteria encounter a surface, which can be biotic or abiotic. This attachment typically occurs through reversible mechanisms mediated by physical forces, such as van der Waals forces, cellular surface charge, and hydrophobicity. Surface proteins, such as microbial surface components recognizing adhesive matrix molecules (MSCRAMMs), are crucial in this stage as they facilitate adhesion. Once adhered, certain bacteria advance to irreversible attachment, forming a strong bond with the surface. The bacteria then initiate the production of EPS, which serve as an anchor to the surface providing structural support to the developing biofilm (59).

Microcolony

Following attachment, bacteria initiate replication and assemble into threedimensional microcolonies on the surface. These microcolonies are embedded in a self-generated EPS matrix which holds the bacterial cells together, and provides a structural support, and acts as a protective barrier hindering the penetration of antimicrobial agents to the biofilm bacteria. Within the microcolonies, bacterial communication and coordination intensify, enabling collective responses to environmental changes (60).

Maturation

The microcolonies continue to grow, initiating the biofilm maturation process in which the EPS matrix continues to accumulate and shape biofilms or varied appearance. Depending on the local nutrient availability, these range from flat formations to elevated, mushroom-like structures. This stage of maturation is marked by an important diversification within the biofilm's ecosystem, leading to the emergence of numerous of specialized microenvironment (61). These microenvironments coexist depending on the gradients of nutrients, oxygen and pH. This heterogeneity emphasizes the adaptability and resilience of the bacterial collective (62-64).

Interbacterial coordination and communication is required in the biofilm and is managed via a process known as quorum sensing (QS). QS is mediated by the release and detection of small signaling molecules and can synchronize the gene expression across the biofilm and control various behaviors like virulence factors, antibiotic resistance and further EPS production (65).

Bacteria in biofilms are shielded from immune defense mechanisms such as phagocytosis and complement system activation, making them exceedingly difficult to eliminate from the host. As biofilms reach maturity, their resistance to antibiotics

peaks (66). Notably, bacteria within a biofilm can exhibit the capacity to withstand antibiotic concentrations 10 to 1,000 times higher than the dose required to kill the planktonic equivalent (67).

Dispersion

The biofilm cycle ends with detachment, whereby bacteria are released from the mature biofilm and regain their planktonic state enabling them to spread and colonize new surfaces. This strategy contributes to the adaptability and survival of the bacterial species.

The dispersal procedure involves a variety of mechanisms. *Erosion* happens when physical forces, like fluid movement, act on the biofilm resulting in a continued detachment of single bacterial cells or small clusters. By contrast, to this, spreading can also occur through *sloughing*, when larger portions of the biofilm detach due to structural weakness or significant shear forces (68). These processes are often a passive way of spreading the biofilm, but the detachment can also be made in an active way by *seeding*. This involves the regulated release of clumps of bacterial cells. This dispersal mechanism is initiated by the bacteria and involves the production of enzymes, such as dispersin B and deoxyribonuclease. These break down parts of the EPS-matrix and reduce biofilm adhesion (69, 70). Environmental alterations such as changes in nutrient supply, oxygen levels, and flow dynamics can trigger detachment of the biofilm (71, 72).



Figure 3 – Biofilm formation cycle

Bacterial biofilm formation begins with planktonic cells attaching to a surface. This is followed by the development of microcolonies and culminates in maturation. Finally, dispersion occurs, enabling bacteria to migrate to new locations. Modified from Peng et al. 2022 (58). Created with BioRender.com

Staphylococcus epidermidis

Staphylococcus epidermidis (*S. epidermidis*) is a coagulase-negative staphylococcus species, meaning that it does not produce coagulase. It is considered a non-pathogenic commensal of the skin. It is frequently found in lesional skin in AD and reports have suggested that *S. epidermidis* can trigger inflammation in AD, potentially by playing a role in exacerbations (73, 74). Isolates that produce biofilm may even further contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease (75).

Atopic dermatitis

Background

Atopic dermatitis (AD) is one of the most common inflammatory skin diseases and has been described in medical history since the Roman Age. In 1923, Arthur Coca and Robert Cooke recognized a relationship between rhinitis and asthma and coined the term *atopy (76)*. This term originiates from the Greek word *atopia* which means "without place". Ten years later, in 1933, Fred Wise and Marion Sulzberger introduced the term *atopic dermatitis*, referring to infantile eczematic lesions concentrated on the face and flexural folds in a people with a family history of atopic conditions.

The prevalence and incidence of AD have increased over the past decades, in 2010 it was calculated that some 230 million persons have this disease (77, 78). According to the Global Burden of Disease study, the prevalence among children was 15-20% and up to 10% for adults (79). These numbers place AD as the 15th most common of nonfatal diseases, and it carries the highest disease burden among skin disorders in terms of disability-adjusted life years (DALY) (80). This has further been underscored by reports of high Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) scores. These indicate impaired life quality connected to a limited lifestyle, avoidance of social connections, compromised activities and itching (81).

Pathogenies of atopic dermatitis

The pathogenesis of AD is caused by a complex interplay between skin barrier dysfunction, genetics, immune dysregulation, environmental factors and microbial imbalance (82) (Figure 4).

Impaired skin barrier function can be indicated by an increased level of transepidermal water loss (TEWL). This is a measurement of the amount of water evaporating from the skin's surface and is associated with AD (83). Further

dysfunctional barrier transformations in AD are altered lipid composition and an increased pH level (84). These changes are associated with diminished function of antimicrobial peptides and adverse shifts in the skin microbiome (85, 86). These are marked by a decrease in microbial community diversity enabling increased colonization by *S. aureus*.

A strong heritability is seen in AD and atopic disorders in the family history is the strongest risk factor in developing the disease (87, 88). Mutation of the filaggrin gene (FLG) is connected to a reduction in filaggrin production and is considered an important genetic component in the pathogenesis of AD. Filaggrin organizes keratin fibers together and is crucial in maintaining a healthy stratum corneum. Deficiency leads to an increased permeability of the skin, allowing letting water to escape out and allergens, irritants and pathogens to penetrate in (89).

Inflammation is central to AD and is believed to be initiated a disruption of the epidermal barrier. A breach in the barrier triggers the release of alarmins, endogenous molecules that signal tissue damage. These alarmins, such as interleukin-33 (IL-33) and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), activate skin dendritic cells and innate immune cells to interact with Th2 cells. These are predominant in AD, especially in patients of Caucasian origin (90, 91). When the Th2 cells are activated, they release cytokines into the skin, chiefly interleukin 4 (IL-4), interleukin 5 (IL-5), interleukin 13 (IL-13), and interleukin 31 (IL-31) (92). These cytokines stimulate inflammation downstream of Janus kinase (JAK) pathways, activating sensory nerve ends, promoting pruritus and leading to stimulation of B-cells to produce IgE antibodies (90)

Environmental factors such as extreme temperatures, air pollution, increased water hardness and frequent use of household cleaning products have been associated with a worsening of AD (93).

Elevated levels of total immunoglobulin E (IgE) are more frequently observed in patients with AD compared to healthy controls, and this elevation has been associated with poorer disease outcomes. However, the precise role of IgE in the pathogenesis of AD is not completely understood (94).



Figure 4 – Pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis

The pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis (AD) is multifactorial and is connected to skin barrier damage, impaired immune mechanisms and environmental influences. Modified from Eyerich et al. 2015 (82). Created with BioRender.com

Clinical presentation of atopic dermatitis

The clinical presentation of AD is heterogenic and varies according to age, pigmentation of the skin and stage in the disease. However, essential characteristics are eczematic lesions with papules or papulovesicles, edema, crusting and scaling, severe pruritus and a chronic or relapsing development (80) (Figure 5). Different diagnostic criteria exist to facilitate accurate diagnosis. In 1980 Hanifin and Rajka published a list of 23 clinical signs and symptoms, which is still commonly used (95, 96). The severity of AD may be further evaluated using scoring tools such as

the Eczema Area and Severity Index (EASI) and the Scoring Atopic Dermatitis (SCORAD) scale. These are used in both research and clinical practice (97, 98).



Figure 5 – Clinical presentation of atopic dermatitis

A typical distribution of eczematic lesions in a patient with atopic dermatitis. Published with permission of the patient. Photo: Department of Dermatology and Venereology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund.

The role of Staphylococcus aureus in atopic dermatitis

The prevalence of *S. aureus* is high in patients with AD (99). A meta-analysis, comprising 95 observational studies, indicated a colonization rate of 70% in lesional skin and 39% in nonlesional skin, as compared to 10% colonization in the skin of healthy individuals (93, 100). There is evidence for a correlation between the density of colonization and the severity of the disease (31, 49, 100) (Figure 6).

The normal microbiota is disturbed in AD, and the diversity of microbes on the skin is diminished. AD patients exhibit fewer protective commensal bacteria like *S. epidermidis* and *Staphylococcus hominis* (*S. hominis*), which are known to produce lantibiotics and promote the secretion of AMPs to protect against harmful pathogens (86, 101). Endogen AMPs such as LL-37 and HBD-2 are reduced in lesional AD skin, in comparison to psoriatic lesions or healthy skin (102).

Asymmetrical or deformed corneocytes are created in AD due to the reduction of filaggrin degradation products in the stratum corneum. *S. aureus* shows an enhanced binding affinity to these deformed corneocytes (103).

S. aureus struggles to thrive in acidic conditions, such as the healthy stratum corneum. However, in AD, reduced sweat secretion and diminished levels of free fatty acids leads to a change in pH with a shift towards alkalinity contributing to a milieu favorable to S. aureus (3, 31).

As described earlier, *S. aureus* expresses several virulence factors that contribute to the intensity of symptoms in AD. By enhanced adhesion to the skin surface, facilitation of tissue invasion, and stimulation of Th2 immune response with increased production of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 an increased inflammation, erythema, and pruritus is seen (104). *S. aureus* strains capable of forming biofilms have been found to predominate in AD lesions, with a correlation the to the disease severity (105, 106).

Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) is a cytokine produced by keratinocytes and is found to be overexpressed in patients with AD. The presence of *S. aureus* and its virulence factors can further trigger the enhanced production of TSLP by the keratinocytes, amplifying the inflammatory response and worsening disease severity (104, 107).



Figure 6 – The tole of S. aureus in atopic dermatitis

S. aureus has shown to affect various pathways involved in the pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis. Modified from Alam et al. 2022, Schuler et al. 2022 (45, 46). Created with BioRender.com

Topical treatments

Management of atopic dermatitis is multifaceted and varied considering the patients specific requirements. The main goal is to address triggering factors and enhance overall condition of the skin. Key therapies such as topical corticosteroids and calcineurin inhibitors plays a crucial role in reducing skin inflammation. When combined with moisturizers, these treatments form the cornerstones for the topical treatment of AD (108, 109). The insight regarding a correlation between *S. aureus* and increased severity of AD has led to considerations that anti-staphylococcal treatments may offer additional benefits in the disease management (110). Various options, including oral and topical antibiotics, as well as alternative antimicrobial substances have been discussed (86, 110-112).

Sodium hypochlorite

Sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl), commonly known as bleach or household bleach, is a substance with historical significance. The French chemist Claude Louis Berthollet was the first to isolate and produce hypochlorite in 1789, initially for use in bleaching of clothes (113). In 1825, a Hungarian obstetrician, Ignaz Semmelweis, realized that handwashing with hypochlorite before delivery reduced the frequency of "post partum fever" (114). During World War I, soldiers' wounds injuries often became infected, not seldom leading to amputation or death. A chemist named Henry Dakin developed an antiseptic solution containing buffered sodium hypochlorite at a concentration of around 0.5%, which served as a non-irritating antiseptic wound cleanser (115). Since then, it has become a part of medicine in the management of burns, ulcers and dental work, as well as an important household cleaning product worldwide.

When used in the medical profession, a low incidence of toxicity is reported. However, as sodium hypochlorite is extremely accessible in higher concentrations as a household cleaner, there have been numerous reports of adverse effects upon topical exposure, including reversible skin and eye irritation (114, 116). In cases of ingestion it has been shown to cause irritation and first-degree burns of the gastrointestinal tract (117), renal injuries (118), signs of pulmonary toxicity (119) and, in large quantities, even death (120).

Sodium hypochlorite is the sodium salt of hypochlorous acid and is an oxidative agent (121). When dissolved in water, hypochlorous acid (HOCl) and hypochlorite ions (OCl⁻) are formed (Figure 7). These two products are assumed to be responsible for the disinfectant properties of the substance (122). The hypochlorite ion carries a charge which hinders it from penetrating the cell walls of bacteria, limiting its antibacterial effects. Conversely, the hypochlorous acid, considered to be a powerful

oxidant, is a small, uncharged molecule similar to water, that passes easily through the cell membrane and exerts antimicrobial effects both inside and outside the bacterial cells by disrupting pathogen's essential enzyme functions (123, 124). This mechanism is also appears in nature, with HOCl as one of the main oxidants formed by neutrophils and is essential part of a successful innate immune response (125).

NaOCI+H2O→HOCI+NaOH Cl2⇔HOCI⇔OCI⁻

Figure 7 - Chemical reaction of sodium hypochlorite

When sodium hypochlorite (NaOCI) is added to water (H_2O) hypochlorous acid (HOCI) and hypochlorite ions (OCI⁻) are formed.

Over the years, several studies have shown the usage of sodium hypochlorite to improve the disease status of AD (126-128). In a study published in 2023, 15 patients with AD and five people with non-atopic skin were instructed to take a five to ten-minute bleach bath (0.005% NaOCl) twice per week for 12 weeks. Eight of the 15 patients achieved 50% improvement of EASI scores (EASI₅₀) and significant reduction in itching. The patients with AD also showed a reduction in TEWL values in non-lesional skin. However, this treatment showed no significant reduction of *S. aureus* levels (129).

Potassium permanganate

Potassium permanganate (KMnO₄) is a purple crystal salt consisting of potassium and permanganate ions (Figure 8). It is manufactured and used in different forms, such as tablets, crystals and solutions. When resolved in water, the aqueous solution varies in color from light pink to violet, depending on the concentration(130).



Figure 8 - Potassium permanganate

Potassium permanganate is a salt consisting of potassium and permanganate ions.
Potassium permanganate is a strong oxidative agent with astringent and odor eliminating effects (130). It has been used in medicine since the early 1800s. In dermatology, it is used as a topical treatment for different types of wounds and eczematous conditions (131). Concentrations in treatment range between 0.001% and 0.1%, depending on the condition, the age of the patient, and local traditions (132).

Potassium permanganate can be used either by soaking dressings and leaving them on the skin for local treatment or, for managing larger areas, by diluting it in a bathtub for full body exposure (Figure 9). The standard treatment duration is usually 10 to 20 minutes (131).



Figure 9 – Potassium permanganate bath

Treatment of atopic dermatitis may involve soaking in potassium permanganate for 10-20 minutes. Photo: Sigrid Lundgren, Department of Dermatology and Venereology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund.

Patients should be informed that the treatment will temporarily stain their skin and nails brown, and permanently discolor clothing and basins that comes in contact with the product. Furthermore, caution needs to be taken due to the risk of irritation or burns from incompletely dissolved crystals and tablets. Cases of caustic burns have been documented, including one where a patient inadvertently sat on a tablet during bathing, resulting in a wound on to their buttocks (133). Caustic injuries of the gastrointestinal tract have been observed after ingestion (134), and there are older reports of vaginal burns after illegal usage as an abortifacient (135).

Being a powerful oxidizing agent, potassium permanganate has been showed to play a role in the degradation of toxins in water systems. It triggers reactions that cause the toxins to decompose into simpler and potentially less harmful compounds (136). Potassium permanganate is described and widely used as an antibacterial substance in AD but, apart from one study from 1992, which observed a reduction in *S. aureus* colonization on the skin of AD patients after potassium permanganate treatment (137), there has been minimal investigation into its actual impact on bacteria derived from AD-affected skin.

Wounds and wound healing

Skin wounds exist in many forms. They and have a profound impact on quality of life and healthcare systems, resulting in significant economic costs (138, 139). Reports suggest that nearly one billion individuals globally suffer from acute or chronic wounds (140).

Wound healing is a precisely regulated biological process characterized by a sequence of well-coordinated, overlapping stages, including hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and remodeling, all directed towards the restoration of tissue integrity and functionality(141) (Figure 10).

While compensatory mechanisms allow for some degree of skin repair despite imbalances among the involved cells and signalling molecules, disruption in various stages can result in incomplete wound closure, delayed healing, or excessive scarring (142).

Hemostasis

The first stage of wound healing, hemostasis, occurs immediately after the skin is injured and ends after a few hours. This phase strives to terminate bleeding and minimize blood loss, while also initiating the inflammatory response. Exposure of collagen activates thrombocytes, which forms a provisional plug (141, 143). Additionally, clotting factors initiate clotting cascades, leading to the formation of

a fibrin-rich blood clot. This diminish hemorrhaging and serves as a scaffold, facilitating further cell migration (141, 144). Platelets also secrete platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) drawing macrophages and fibroblasts to the site (145). Leukocytes and platelets further release cytokines and growth factors, activating inflammation (IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α), stimulating collagen synthesis, and initiating angiogenesis (141, 146). IL-8 plays an important role as a potent neutrophil chemoattractant (141).

Inflammation

The inflammatory phase is initiated during hemostasis and is characterized by the recruitment of immune cells to the wound. The first cells to reach the site are the neutrophils, typically arriving within minutes to hours after injury, and reaching their peak about 24 to 48 hours thereafter (147). They are responsible for cleansing the area from debris and pathogens by phagocytosis, and releasing of antimicrobial substances and proteinases like neutrophil elastase (NE) (142). The neutrophils also release inflammatory mediators, like tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and interleukins (IL-1 β , IL-6) further amplifying the recruitment of inflammatory cells and initiation of the tissue repair process (141). Although the neutrophils plays an important role, prolonged neutrophil activity can result in tissue damage and impede wound healing (148).

In the second phase of the inflammatory stage, macrophages enters the injury zone and continue the phagocytosis process and removal of apoptotic cells (149, 150). They secrete proinflammatory cytokines like IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α , plus important growth factors such as transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and PDGF. This stimulates cell proliferation and the creation of an extracellular matrix and brings the wound into the proliferate phase of wound healing (151).

The last cells to infiltrate in this stage are the lymphocytes, important producers of IL-2 which contributes to the fibroblast recruitment. The inflammatory stage normally continues for two weeks with the classic inflammatory signs: dolor (pain); rubor (redness); calor (warmth); and tumor (swelling) (152).

Proliferation

During this stage, there is a shift from inflammation to the active proliferation of cells essential for tissue repair, reepithelializing, the formation of granulation tissue, and restoration of blood vessels via angiogenesis (153).

Reepithelialization of the wound starts within 24 hours after the injury, when keratinocytes from the wound edges and epithelial stem cells from hair follicles

becomes activated and undergo phenotypic and functional changes (154-156). This allows for the epithelial cells to migrate laterally and proliferate (143).

Fibroblasts plays an important role in this stage. They are present in the surrounding tissue and becomes activated by PDGF, which serves as a chemoattractant, guiding them into the wound area. Fibroblasts are involved in the formation of granulation tissue by the production of fibronectin, vitronectin and collagen, thus creating a temporary matrix to support further cell ingrowth (143, 157). This matrix undergoes gradual replacement, forming a more collagen-rich matrix. Once a sufficient amount of collagen has been deposited, fibroblasts halt their production and undergo apoptosis. Dysregulation in this process could result in the formation of abnormal scars (143, 158).

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), produced by a wide range of cells involved in wound healing, are a family of enzymes that plays a crucial role in remodeling of the extracellular matrix by balancing synthesis and degradation (141, 157).

Angiogenesis is important in sustaining the granulation tissue with oxygen and nutrients. This process is initiated by growth factors such as VEGF, PDGF, and fibroblast growth factor (FGF).

Remodeling

The remodeling phase, also known as the maturation phase, represents the final stage in wound healing. This may last from months to years depending on the size of the wound. During remodeling inflammatory cells leave, this results in an acellular, mature wound, marking the shift from granulation tissue to scar tissue. This process involves reduced angiogenesis and replacement of collagen type III with the stronger collagen type I. The process is balanced by MMPs, which degrade excess collagen (159). Myofibroblasts are responsible for contraction of the wound, reducing its size (160). The tensile strength of a fully mature scar is only about 80% of the original tissue (157, 161).



Figure 10 – Wound healing The four phases of wound healing. Created with BioRender.com

Aims

The overarching objective of this thesis is to explore the therapeutic approaches and fundamental mechanisms affecting conditions that involve compromised skin barriers, including atopic dermatitis and epidermal wound healing.

Paper I

To investigate the antimicrobial and anti-biofilm efficacy of sodium hypochlorite *in vitro* against *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates derived from patients with atopic dermatitis.

To explore potential cytotoxic effects on keratinocytes in vitro.

Paper II

To investigate the antimicrobial and anti-biofilm efficacy of potassium permanganate *in vitro* against *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates derived from patients with atopic dermatitis.

Paper III

A study protocol for a prospective, randomized, double-blinded, first-in-human, placebo-controlled clinical trial assessing the safety and tolerability of three dose levels of TCP-25 gel when applied to epidermal suction blister wounds.

The secondary aim was to assess the systemic exposure of TCP-25 subsequent to its topical application on epidermal suction blister wounds.

The exploratory aims encompassed evaluation of wound conditions through photographs and the collection and storage of samples from dressings and wound surfaces for further exploratory research.

Paper IV

To study the dynamics of bacteria, inflammation and exudation during the healing process of epidermal wounds.

Material and methods

Background

This thesis comprises a series of studies exploring the efficacy of antimicrobial agents commonly used in the treatment of atopic dermatitis. It also examines the clinical aspects of epidermal wound healing, focusing on the complex interactions of the microflora in these contexts. The methodologies range widely, spanning from laboratory-based *in vitro* assays to detailed clinical studies. Every method possesses its unique strengths and limitations, emphasizing the necessity for careful consideration to obtain the desired information.

In vitro, Latin for "in glass", refers to studies conducted outside a living organism or outside a subject's normal biological milieu. The tests are normally performed in a controlled laboratory environment, enabling manipulation of specific, isolated specific variables. These studies also benefit from a replicability and less complex ethical considerations, since no animals or humans are examined in the actual assays. *In vitro* studies can provide important insights into potential effective treatments. However, weather the same outcome would be seen in a clinical milieu, for example real patients with atopic dermatitis, is uncertain, due to the complex biochemical environment present in living organisms.

Study design

The types of studies in this thesis vary. Paper I and II are laboratory-based experimental studies using *in vitro* and *ex vivo* methods. They are unblinded and follows an experimental design evaluating how bacterial isolates respond to antimicrobial treatments.

Paper III is a study protocol connected to a Phase 1 clinical trial. This is designed to assess the safety and tolerability of a novel, peptide-based (peptide TCP-25) wound gel (Fig 11).

The study is a prospective, randomized, double-blinded, first-in-human, placebocontrolled clinical trial. In the study twenty-four healthy volunteers receive four suction blister wounds each: two treated with the active product and the other two receiving a placebo gel. Over a span of 15 days, we meticulously monitored the healing process and collected an extensive array of samples. One wound on each thigh was randomly assigned to receive the active drug, while the other received a control gel devoid of the drug substance.

Paper IV is the exploratory part of the clinical study referred to in the study protocol (paper III). As the study did not include wounds treated with the drug, we only included the samples from control wound, analysing a total of 48 control wounds from 24 subjects.



Figure 11 – Study design

A summary of the prospective, randomized, double-blinded, first-in-human, placebo-controlled clinical trial examining the safety and tolerability of a novel wound gel based on the peptide TCP-25. Authorized use granted by © BMJ Open.

Formation of suction blister wounds

The suction blister technique is a controlled and standardized method used to create epithelial wounds on the skin that are useful for research purposes. After cleansing, a suction device (in form of a negative pressure chamber or a suction pump) is applied to the skin surface with a cup tightly pressed against it. The device then creates a vacuum and the skin is pulled into the cup separating the epidermis from the dermis and creating a suction blister. The fluid in the blister is collected with a syringe, and the roof of the blister is removed with sterile forceps and scissors, exposing the wound beneath (162-164) (Figure 12)



Figure 12 – Suction blister formation

A) Schematic illustration of the set-up. B) Suction blisters produced by separating the epidermis from dermis using vacuum chambers. Standardized epidermal wounds emerge after removal of blister roof. Authorized use granted by © Wound Repair and Regeneration

Methodological considerations

Wound formation for research purposes can be done in various ways, depending on what kind of information is wanted. Our study included healthy individuals with intact skin and its aim was to create epidermal wounds. It was desirable to use a technique that was well tolerated, reproducible and with minimal risk of scarring. In contrast to punch biopsies which normally create deeper wounds associated with a risk of bleeding, infection, discomfort, and scarring the suction blister technique provides a minimally invasive, non-painful way of creating superficial wounds in the skin.

Microbiological methods

Microorganisms

The clinical isolates used in paper I and II were collected from eczematic lesions, usually from the antecubital fossa, in patients with AD after informed consent. The

identification of *S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis* was performed by standard routines at Department of Clinical Microbiology at Skåne University Hospital.

Swab and dressing collection from wounds

Sample collection from epidermal wounds can include swabbing with a pre-wetted swab rotated over the wound to gather bacterial samples.

Wound dressings harbor information regarding the bacterial composition of the wound, as well as protein content linked to the degree of exudate and inflammatory markers. The weight of dressings from the wound is an indirect measurement of the amount of exudate from the wound.

By pressing the dressing together with a buffer in a syringe, it is possible to extract bacteria and proteins could be extracted from the material. Bacterial counts performed from dilutions from swabs and dressing extracts provides a quantification of the bacterial levels on the wound surface and dressing.

Viable count assay

Viable count assay, also known as colony-forming unit (CFU) counting, is a basic assay to evaluate the number of viable bacteria in a sample. The bacteria are incubated with the tested substance, in our case potassium permanganate. The incubation time can be altered to fit the purpose; we chose 10 minutes to mimic the treatment time for patients with atopic dermatitis. The samples are serial diluted to ensure that the number of colonies will be countable after they are plated onto agar plates. After incubation, colonies are counted and the number of CFUs per milliliter in the original sample is calculated by multiplying the this number by the dilution factor(165).

Radial diffusion assay

Another classic method used for assessing the antibacterial activity of a substance is the radial diffusion assay (RDA). The principle of RDA is to evaluate the suppression of bacterial growth by diffusion of an antibacterial agent through a semi-solid agar medium. Bacteria of a specific concentration are added to molten agar and then cast on a solid plate in which punch wells are made. The test substance is added to the wells and allowed to diffuse into the plate during incubation at room temperature. An overlay covers and seals the compound in place, offering a nutrientrich milieu for bacterial growth during incubation. Measurement of the diameter of the clear zones (indicating antimicrobial efficacy) is compared with the control. The wider the zone, the greater the effect(166, 167).

Ex vivo assay on skin biopsy

To examine the antimicrobial effect of sodium hypochlorite on bacteria with varying adherence levels to the skin, we used an *ex vivo* model. In this setup, punch biopsies from AD affected skin, which was colonized with *S. aureus,* were dissected into four segments. These segments were subjected to sodium hypochlorite at three distinct concentrations, with the fourth immersed in filtered tap water to serve as a control. After incubation for an hour, bacterial counts were conducted on the incubation fluid. This was followed by a buffer wash to detach weakly attached bacteria after which another bacterial count was performed. The biopsies were then vortexed and sonicated to assess the effect of sodium hypochlorite on tightly adhered bacteria. This was followed by a final bacterial count.

MALDI-TOF MS

Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization – Time Of Flight Mass Spectrometry, (or commonly called MALDI-TOF MS) is an analytical technique used for quick identification of microorganisms, proteins and biomolecules. The sample is placed on a metal plate together with a matrix compound, usually a crystalline organic acid. The sample is then exposed to a laser beam, causing ionization and sublimation. The charged molecules are accelerated by an electrical field into a flight tube traveling through a vacuum, and then separated and sorted based on their mass-to-charge ratio. As the ions reach the detectors, their flight times are recorded and a mass spectrum is generated. This yields a molecular fingerprint that can be matched against protein profiles from a database for identification. Bacterial samples from swabs and dressings grown on blood agar plates allow bacterial colonies to be collected and identified using MALDI-TOF MS (168, 169).

Methodological considerations

Radial diffusion assay (RDA) is a simple and inexpensive way of obtaining a fairly quick, and visual determination of a substance's antimicrobial properties. It is limited by being less sensitive to the sub-lethal effects of the bacteria than other methods such as the epsilometer test, also known as the E-test. An E-test can, to some extent, provide a gradient of concentrations and, more specifically, determine the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) of an antibacterial substance (170, 171).

The viable count assay is frequently used to determine the efficacy of antimicrobial agents. Although it is a well-established assay that can be very accurate if performed correctly, it is both time-consuming and labour-intensive, especially if many dilutions are required. Quicker alternatives such as flow cytometry can save time

but requires more expensive equipment and does not differentiate between live and dead cells unless appropriate stains are used (170).

A notable limitation in paper IV is the manual selection of only six colonies via MALDI-TOF MS analysis. This provides insights into the wound bacterial composition but prevent us from gaining a full picture of the microbiome. While 16S rRNA sequencing could have been an alternative method giving a broader analysis. However, our primary focus was not to offer a thorough microbiome analysis, but rather, broader exploration into the dynamics where bacterial analysis is just one facet together with inflammatory biomarkers, protein leakage, novel biomarkers. Furthermore, it is important to notice that 16S-based methods sometimes lack the resolution needed to differentiate between commensal staphylococci (172, 173).

Biofilm assays

One of the main areas of interest in this thesis was examining biofilm inhibitory properties of substances used clinically in treating atopic dermatitis with suspected high bacterial load Traditional microbiological tests to evaluate the efficacy of antimicrobial agents are usually performed on planktonic, free-floating bacteria. However, other methods are required to gain an understanding of the concentrations needed to affect biofilms produced by the same bacteria other types of methods are needed. The methods we used for these purposes are described briefly below.

Biofilm formation assay

A recognized method of quantifying the biomass of biofilm produced by bacterial isolates is the crystal violet (CV) biofilm assay. The bacteria are cultivated, with or without the tested substance, in a microtiter plate with a suitable surface to which biofilm can adhere. After incubation, non-adherent cells are washed away, and the remaining biofilm in the plate is stained with crystal violet, a plain dye that binds to negatively charged extracellular molecules (such as surface molecules and polysaccharides). The dyed biofilm is solubilized in ethanol and the absorbance is measured spectrophotometrically, providing a quantitative evaluation of the biofilm's biomass (Figure 13). This method is suitable for screening of the biofilm-forming capacity of microbial isolates, and for examining the ability of different substances to inhibit biofilm formation (174).



Figure 13 – Biofilm formation assay

Quantification of biofilm formation by coloration with crystal violet. Created with BioRender.com

MIC and MBEC

The Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) refers to the lowest concentration of an agent required to prevent the visible growth of a bacteria after an incubation period. This parameter is critical in assessing the susceptibility of the bacteria in a planktonic state. The Minimum Biofilm Eradication Concentration (MBEC) represents the lowest concentration of an antimicrobial that can eradicate an established biofilm. The Calgary Biofilm Device (175) provides a sophisticated method of evaluating the sensitivity of bacteria (like S. aureus) to antibacterial substances in both planktonic and biofilm states. Bacterial aliquots are placed in the wells of a 96-well microtiter plate, and a lid is added which has pegs protruding down into the wells is added. During incubation, biofilm forms on these pegs. The lid with biofilm covered pegs is then transferred to another 96-well plate with a serial dilution of the tested substance. This is usually referred to as the "challenge plate". The lid, now with treated biofilms, is then carefully washed and moved to a new plate, called the "recovery plate", which has wells containing growth medium. The whole plate is sonicated to facilitate the disruption of biofilm from the pegs into the wells. Both the challenge plate and the recovery plate are incubated, and their bacterial growth evaluated. Determination of MIC is made by examining the challenge plate. No visible growth indicates effective inhibition of planktonic bacteria. Similarly, the MBEC value is read from the recovery plate (175, 176).

Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy

A more detailed examination of treated biofilm can be performed using the highresolution capabilities of Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM) combined with fluorescent LIVE/DEAD staining. Biofilm, treated or untreated, is stained with two different fluorescent dyes. These are SYTO 9, which binds to DNA and stains both living and dead cells green and propidium iodide (PI), a red dye, which only penetrates damaged cell membranes, and thus only stains dead cells. CLSM scans the layers of biofilm with a laser, activating the fluorescent dyes. This is a powerful method for studying biofilms, visualizing both living and deceased cells, and gaining a more thorough understanding of the biofilm architecture using three dimensional imaging (177, 178).

Scanning Electron Microscopy

The powerful imaging technique of Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) is used to acquire high-resolution images of a variety of surface materials, including biofilms. Samples are prepared, in this thesis, these consist of a punch biopsy derived from eczematic skin plus the biofilm-coated pegs dethatched from the lid of the CBD. The samples are then prepared by fixation and dehydration, and then covered with conductive material. The sample is placed in a vacuum chamber, an essential milieu if the electron beam is to travel unhindered by any interactions with air molecules. The electron beam is focused and scans the sample surface. It interacts with the atoms of the material, resulting in the emission of secondary electrons, backscattered electrons and X-rays. These signals are detected and used to construct a detailed and highly magnified image of the sample structures(179).

Methodological considerations

The Crystal Violet method to examine biofilm inhibition properties is a straightforward assay that is suitable to simultaneously analyse a large number of samples. This assay is appropriate for quantifying biofilm biomass. However, it is limited by its non-specific way of staining both living and dead cells, which may give an imprecise indication of viable biofilm. An alternative, but more time consuming and expensive, method we used was Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM), with fluorescent dyes to distinguishing between living and dead cells. As a strictly *in vitro* model, this does not test the substance and biofilm interactions of the immune system (179, 180).

The Calgary Biofilm Device is a favorable assay as it can perform simultaneous assessment of MIC and MBEC values. Due to the complexity of biofilm formation in a natural environment, it could be contemplated that the CBD may not fully mimic these settings. If more dynamic conditions are needed, a flow cell system could be considered, as this could better simulate the clinical conditions of biofilm formation. Since these studies are mainly deemed applicable to eczematic skin we assumed that the CBD method to be sufficient enough for this purpose (175).

Cell methods

In dermatological research, especially when investigating conditions like atopic dermatitis, the preservation of the skin barrier is a critical factor. In addition to the

important determination the antimicrobial effect of a substance's, cytotoxicity aspects needs to be considered if we are to gain knowledge of what treatment conditions can promote healing with minimal harm to the host cells.

The cells used in these procedures were transformed human adult keratinocytes (also known as HaCaT cells) derived from a spontaneously immortalized, human keratinocyte cell line from the late 1980s. They are non-tumorigenic and retain differentiation capabilities similar to normal keratinocytes making them frequently used in research exploring various characteristics of skin biology (181).

LDH

The Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) assay is a commonly used technique to evaluate cell cytotoxicity. LDH is a cytoplasmic enzyme found in all living cells. The enzyme is released into the culture medium when the plasma membrane is damaged. An enzymatic reaction mediated by LDH release transform tetrazolium salt to a formazan compound resulting in a color change of the sample. The amount of LDH released is reflected in the intensity of the color shift. Detection of the absorbance by a microplate reader, allows for precise quantification of the amount of cell damage (182).

3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazolyl)-2,5-dpienyl-tetrazolium bromide assay

This assay, also known as the MTT assay, is a standard colorimetric method for assessing cell viability and proliferation. The method relies on the principle that living, metabolic active cells use mitochondrial dehydrogenase enzymes to convert the yellow tetrazolium salt to purple coloured formazan. Cells grown in a 96-well plate are treated with a chosen substance and then incubated with MTT, thus enabling the described reaction. Once the medium is discarded, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) is applied, to effectively dissolving the formazan compounds. The optical density (OD) of the solubilized formazan is measured using a microplate reader. This indicates the quantity of viable cells in the sample (183).

Methodological considerations

LDH is an ideal assay for evaluation of the cytotoxic impact of a drug, providing a quick, cost-effective and direct quantitative measure of cell damage. A limitation to consider however is the fact that neither of these assays distinguish between different types of cell death, both necrotic and apoptotic result in membrane disruption (182).

Protein analyses

Protein content

Protein content in a sample can be measured by using of the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay. This relies on a protein's capacity to reduce copper ions in an alkaline medium, creating a purple-colored complex with BCA. The intensity of the color is proportional to the amount of protein in the sample. Spectrophotometric measurement of the absorbance is compared to a standard curve with a known protein concentration, thus determining the protein content of the sample (184).

ELISA

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is a frequently used technique for qualitative and quantitative detection of proteins in a sample. In this thesis, ELISA was used to quantify neutrophil proteins. The fundamental principle of ELISA involves using a microplate, precoated with a specific antibody that binds to the protein of interest in the sample added to the plate. After washing off excess unbound substances through washing, a substrate solution is added. This triggers an enzymatic reaction yielding a detectable signal, such as a color change or fluorescence. The intensity of the signal is proportional to the quantity of the protein (185).

Meso Scale Discovery technology

Cytokine quantification using Meso Scale Discovery (MSD) technology allows for simultaneous detection of multiple proteins in a sample through a combination of multiarray technology and electrochemiluminescence. Compared to conventional ELISA, the MSD technology offers increased sensitivity, a wider dynamic range, and provides the flexibility to be conducted as. a single or multiplex assay, effectively conserving valuable sample material (186).

MSD assays use specific plates containing microwells coated with capture antibodies selective for the target protein are utilized. When the sample is added, the target protein (such as a cytokine) selectively binds to the capture antibodies immobilized on the well surface. Following a washing to remove unbound proteins, detection antibodies are added and labeled with electrochemiluminescent (ECL) tags. These antibodies bind to the captured protein, forming a "sandwich" complex with the target protein nestled between the two antibodies. An electric current is then applied, prompting the ECL tags to radiate light. This is captured by a photodetector. The intensity of the light emission corresponds to the amount of target protein, thus enabling quantification of the sample (186).

Methodological considerations

Both ELISA and MSD technology provides sensitive techniques to examine the protein content in a sample. The major benefit for MSD is the ability to make simultaneous measurement of multiple proteins. However, this method is usually costlier and requires more specialized equipment.

Ethical approval

Papers I and II complied with the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the Ethics Examination Board of Lund, permit numbers 144/2010 and 82/2012.

Papers III and IV were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, ICH/GCPE6 (R2), and the European Union Clinical Trials Directive and were approved by the Swedish Medical Products Agency and the Swedish Ethical Review Committee; registration number 2022-00527-01.

Ethical considerations

To make progress in life and medicine, mankind is dependent on the development of new ideas and knowledge. However, this cannot be achieved at any cost and the potential benefits needs to be balanced against possible risks. This concept has ancient origins going back to the Hippocratic Oath circa 400BC, which urged doctors to prioritize beneficence and non-maleficence in their practice, while also laying the groundwork for patient autonomy and justice (187).

The pledge to beneficence implies that the practitioner should work with the patient's best interests at heart. In research, this translates to conducting studies that aim to enhance health and knowledge, while ensuring that the benefits outweigh any potential risks involved.

Connected to this is the principle of non-maleficence, which emphasizes the importance of physicians not causing any harm or injury. In research contexts, this involves minimizing of the risks to participants.

Autonomy refers to respect for patients' individual rights. This is fundamental to medical research by obtaining informed consent to participate in studies and allowing the right to withdraw at any given time.

Justice underscores the importance of equality in medicine, advocating for compassionate treatment of all individuals without discrimination. In medical

research, this involves striving for a uniform selection and treatment of study participants.

As medicine and society have evolved, so have the frameworks of ethical considerations. Notable historical benchmarks are the Nuremberg Code of 1947 (188) and the Declaration of Helsinki in 1964 (189). The latter, with its detailed guidelines for medical research, serves as the ethical cornerstone of the work presented in this thesis.

In papers I-II, bacterial samples were collected from patients with AD who were registered at the Department of Dermatology and Venereology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund. The sampling did not interfere with these patients' medical care and treatment. In paper I punch biopsies, that are a standard procedure at the Dermatological clinic, were performed and examined. All patients involved have given a written informed consent and the studies were approved by the regional Ethics Examination Board of Lund.

Papers III-IV include a study protocol and a clinical study involving healthy volunteers who received superficial epidermal wounds on their thighs. The potential study subjects were provided both verbal and written information regarding the study and the purpose of it. They were given the opportunity to ask questions privately, and it was emphasized that participation was entirely voluntary with the freedom to withdraw at any point without explanation. Subsequently, written consent was obtained from all the participants before any study-related procedures commenced. The study was conducted as part of a first-in-human trial for a topical wound gel and was executed at the Phase 1 Unit, Skåne University Hospital, Lund. All personnel involved with the participants of the study had undergone training and education in Good Clinical Practice (GCP). The choice of suction blister technique was considered to reduce the likelihood of persistent marks and scarring of the skin and thereby minimizing the risk of harm. The study was conducted in strict adherence to ethical standards aligning with the Declaration of Helsinki, ICH/GCPE6 (R2), and the European Union Clinical Trials Directive. Approval for this study has been granted by the Swedish Medical Products Agency and the Swedish ethics committee bearing the registration number 2022-00527-01

Statistical analyses

Paper I

In paper I, the data was reported as means \pm standard deviation (SD). Group differences were assessed using one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple

comparison test. A P-value < 0.05 was considered as significant. The analyses were conducted using GraphPad PRISM version 6.0c statistical software.

Paper II

In paper II, the data was depicted as means along with their \pm SD. To investigate variations among groups, we used the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. A significance level of P < 0.05 was chosen to indicate statistical significance. All statistical analyses were conducted using GraphPad PRISM 8.

Paper III

Paper III is a study protocol for a prospective, randomized, double-blinded, first-inhuman, placebo-controlled clinical trial testing the tolerability of a novel wound gel. The statistical analysis plan involves presenting continuous data, including mean \pm SD, median, and minimum and maximum values, along with details on evaluable and missing observations. Categorical data will be displayed as counts and percentages. All statistical analyses will be conducted using SAS V.9.4 or a newer version (SAS Institute). The baseline will be expressed as the most recent nonmissing observation recorded before the initial administration of the intervention.

Outliers will be integrated into summary tables and listings without separate handling in analyses. Missing data will not be imputed, but if a clinical safety laboratory value falls outside the limit for detection, this limit will be utilized in statistical calculations. Similarly, for pharmacokinetics plasma concentrations, values below the lower limit of quantification will be substituted with the lower limit of quantification if more than 50% of the values for a specific time point exceed this limit.

Paper IV

In paper IV, summary data were graphically represented by plotting the median and interquartile range. Spearman correlation coefficients were computed to assess the correlation between two variables. Despite each participant having two control wounds included in the study, individual wounds were treated as independent entities in all analyses, in total 48 wounds (n=48). Non-parametric analyses were chosen due to the non-normal distribution of the data, as determined through visual inspection. All statistical tests conducted were two-tailed. Considering the exploratory design of the study, p-values were left unadjusted for multiple comparisons, serving as hypothesis-generating indicators only. Data were analyzed and visualized using GraphPad Prism 10 software.

Results

Readers are encouraged to read the included papers for more details of the work in this thesis.

Paper I

Sodium hypochlorite demonstrated antimicrobial properties against *S. aureus* isolates derived from the lesional skin of AD patients. In the RDA the results showed that sodium hypochlorite dose-dependently inhibited the growth of planktonic *S. aureus* with progressive widening of clear zones at rising concentrations (Figure 14). When using the CBD method, MIC values for sodium hypochlorite were determined for 11 clinical isolates, ranging from 0.01% to 0.08%. The effects against the clinical isolates where similar to the reference ATCC strain.



Figure 14 – Radial diffusion assay

The antibacterial efficacy of sodium hypochlorite against *S. aureus* examined with radial diffusion assay (RDA). a) results represent the mean size of inhibitory zones \pm standard deviation from three separate experiments. b) A representative image displays a treated plate with visible clear zones, demonstrating antibacterial effects. Authorized use granted by © British Journal of Dermatology

In this study, SEM analysis revealed the presence of clustered coccoid bacteria surrounded by a matrix of extracellular substances on a punch biopsy derived from eczematic skin (Figure 15).



Figure 15 – Scanning electron microscopy

Analysis using a scanning electron microscope (SEM) of a punch biopsy obtained from a patient with atopic dermatitis revealed the presence of clustered coccoid bacteria embedded within extracellular substances. Authorized use granted by © British Journal of Dermatology

Investigates to analyse the biofilm formation with the CV method showed that, when untreated, all the tested strains produced biofilm. When subjected to sodium hypochlorite, the inhibition of biofilm formation was observed. A significant reduction was presented in some strains from a concentration of 0.0219%, whereas a majority of the strains showed a significant inhibition when exposed to a concentration of 0.0875% or higher.

The capacity of sodium hypochlorite needed to eradicate established *S. aureus* biofilm was determined using the CBD method and provided MBEC values ranging from 0.01% to 0.16%.

Further effects of sodium hypochlorite against *S. aureus* biofilm were visualized during the examination using confocal microscopy and LIVE/DEAD staining, where a concentration of 0.04% killed nearly all the bacteria (red fluorescent) (Figure 16).



Figure 16 – Confocal laser scanning microscopy

Confocal laser scanning microscopy images show representative views

of control and treated biofilms of a clinical S. aureus isolate and the ATCC 29213 strain. These biofilms were stained using the LIVE/DEAD® kit (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, U.S.A.). In the top row, dead bacteria are highlighted by propidium iodide staining (red fluorescence), whereas the bottom row depicts both live and dead bacteria stained with green fluorescent SYTO9. The magnification is 963x, and the scale bar represents 20 μ m. Authorized use granted by © British Journal of Dermatology

In the *ex vivo* assay we examined the effect of sodium hypochlorite against bacteria with varying degrees of adherence to the skin in a punch biopsy. We observed that incubation with a 0.02% concentration killed >90% of bacteria released from the biopsy into the incubation solution. However, both weakly and strongly attached bacteria remained abundant. Increasing the concentration to 0.04% killed >90% of the weakly attached bacteria following washing. Complete eradication of weakly attached occurred with 0.16% sodium hypochlorite, but approximately 10% of the strongly attached bacteria (after vortex and sonication) survived this concentration.

Cytotoxic effects analyzed with LDH assay showed a significant increase in damaged cells when treated with a concentration of 0.02%, but non significant changes when exposed to 0.005%, 0.01% and the higher 0.04%.

The viability examined with MTT assay was significantly affected when the cells were exposed to a concentration of 0.01% or higher.

Paper II

The antimicrobial effect of potassium permanganate against planktonic *S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis* from patients with AD and two reference ATCC strains was tested using the viable count assay. After a ten-minute exposure to concentrations ranging from 0.01% to 0.5%, the results presented a partial or complete decrease in CFU for all the tested isolates. When subjected to 0.05%, potassium permanganate was found to completely eliminate *S. aureus*. For the two tested *S. epidermidis* strains, this was seen when a 0.1% concentration was applied (Figure 17).



Figure 17 - Antibacterial effects against planktonic *S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis isolates* Viable colony counts of S. aureus and S. epidermidis obtained from patients with AD, along with two ATCC strains, after potassium permanganate exposure with a concentration range of 0.01% to 0.5% for 10 minutes. Values marked with an asterisk are significantly (**p \leq 0.002, ***p \leq 0.0005) different from the growth controls. Bacteria exposed to potassium permanganate concentrations of 0.1% and 0.5% exhibited a total elimination of colony-forming units, with no detectable growth observed. Authorized use granted by © ACTA DV

The antibacterial properties were further demonstrated in the RDA, where potassium permanganate exhibited a dose-dependent effect against bacterial growth.

Determination of MIC values using the CBD method found values ranging from 0.5% to 1% for the *S. aureus* isolates.

The Crystal Violet method was used to examine the capability of potassium permanganate to inhibit biofilm formation. The results found that all the tested

strains (nine clinical isolates of *S. aureus*, one clinical isolate of *S. epidermidis* and two reference ATCC strains) produced biofilm. However, biofilm production was suppressed in the presence of potassium permanganate in a manner that tended to be dose-dependent for the majority of the bacterial isolates tested . Most of the strains displayed a reduction in biofilm formation upon exposure to a minimum concentration of 0.01% potassium permanganate when compared to the untreated growth control.

The ability to affect established staphylococcal biofilm was tested in a modified version of the CBD method, whereby potassium permanganate was serially diluted in concentrations from 1% to 0.03%. For the *S. aureus* strains the MBEC values ranged from 1% to beyond the highest tested concentration of 1%. For the tested *S. epidermidis* strains, the MBEC values were lower, from 0.25% to 1%.

Some of the pegs were further examined using SEM, reveling coccoid bacteria. These were densely packed in the untreated controls, with a reduced amount observed as the concentration rose. When subjected to the highest concentration of 1%, the *S. aureus* ATCC strain presented deformed and broken bacterial structures (Figure 18).



Figure 18 - Scanning electron microscopy

The bacterial distribution within bacterial biofilms on plastic pegs is shown after exposure to varying concentrations of potassium permanganate. Higher concentrations of potassium permanganate result in a reduced bacterial number. (a) Displays *S. aureus* ATCC 29213 treated with different concentrations of potassium permanganate, where the morphology of the bacteria is notably changed at a 1%. (b) Shows *S. aureus* clinical isolate 3 after treatment with potassium permanganate. Authorized use granted by © ACTA DV

Paper III

The clinical study described in this protocol was performed in April to June 2022, when 24 healthy adults were included. Each participant underwent the creation of four epidermal wounds. Two of the wounds received treatment using an active wound gel and two received a placebo gel. Throughout the 15-day observation period following the protocol, meticulous monitoring was conducted, and a biobank of samples was established.

Paper IV

The aim for this study was to create epidermal wounds and investigate the healing process in regard to bacterial amount and composition, plus exudation levels and inflammation.

Directly after wound formation, the bacterial levels were zero, or close to zero in the swab samples. The bacterial amount then increased steadily in the subsequent days, peaking on Day 8 with a median of 1.7×10^6 CFU in the swabs, and 1.6×10^7 CFU in the dressing. The bacteria levels declined on Day 11, to a median of 1.3×10^6 CFU/swab and 1.4×10^6 CFU/dressing. Variability in bacterial levels between individuals were observed, but there was an overall correlation between bacterial counts in swab and dressing (Figure 19).

MALDI-TOF MS was used to investigate the bacterial composition of the wounds on Days 3 and 8 by analyzing six colonies each from swabs and dressing. The findings showed the formation of unique bacterial composition for each individual, generally consisting of commensals but, in some cases, *S. aureus*. The composition was quite stable between the days and between swabs and dressings . Regardless of the bacterial composition, all the wounds exhibited similar healing patterns in terms of appearance and timing.

The amount of protein in the dressings was analyzed to investigate exudation levels over time. A peak was seen on Day 5 and then a decline until Day 11, when the protein content in dressings was close to zero. The correlation of protein levels between the left and right legs was moderate to strong, while the correlation between protein content and bacterial levels was faint to none.



Figure 19 – Bacterial development over time during epidermal wound healing

A) Bacterial counts in swab samples (left) and dressing fluid samples (right) plotted across a timeline. The blue line indicates the median of all wounds for that day (n=48) and the whiskers represent the interquartile range. B) A heatmap providing a comparison of bacterial counts from swab (left) and dressing fluid (right) samples corresponding to each wound. Data from the left and right wounds are

presented in separate cells at the top and bottom of each row, respectively. C) The scatterplot showcases the correlation of bacterial counts in swab and dressing fluid samples from each wound.

To monitor the progression of inflammation, the levels of 10 different cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13, IFN- γ , TNF- α) from dressing fluids were measured. The findings showed a similar pattern over time for all the cytokines with a slight increase or decrease between Days 2 and 3, peaking on Day 5 and then with levels reduced again at Day 8. Due to minimal exudation on Day 11, no cytokine measurements were conducted on this day (Figure 20).

For a majority of the cytokines, we found weak or no correlation to bacterial amounts. However, stronger correlations were observed for TNF- α on Days 3 and 5 (R = 0.475 and 0.488), IL-10 on Day 5 (R = 0.531) and IL-1 β on Days 5 and 8 (R = 0.497 and 0.480) (Figure 20).



Figure 20 – Dynamics of inflammation

A) The chart presents the concentrations of ten distinct cytokines found in dressing fluids, monitored over time using MesoScale technology. Each point represents the concentration from an individual wound, with the median for all wounds on a given day depicted by the blue line (n=48), accompanied by whiskers indicating the interquartile range. B) This section shows Spearman correlation coefficients that link each cytokine's levels to the bacterial amount in swab samples (left) and the protein content of the corresponding wound (right)

Another measurement of inflammation is exudation levels, measured in this study as the protein content in dressings. A moderate to strong correlation between protein content and cytokine levels was detected, peaking on Day 5.

The amount of the neutrophil proteins, myeloperoxidase (MPO), neutrophil elastase (NE) and heparin binding protein (HBP) was measured from the exudation fluid. MPO and NE levels were about the same on Days 2 and 3, then peaking on Day 5 before declining on day 8. HBP showed a gradual escalation until Day 5, and then a fall on Day 8. The correlations between these neutrophil markers and the cytokine IL-8 were found to be moderate to strong, whereas the correlation with bacterial levels was little to none. Furthermore, a moderate to strong correlation was found between neutrophil proteins and protein content, especially on Day 8.

Discussion

Paper I

Atopic dermatitis is one of the most common dermatological conditions and *S. aureus* is known to cause exacerbations of the disease (104). Furthermore, studies indicate that staphylococcal biofilm contributes to the severity and persistence of AD (190). Our SEM examination of a punch biopsy from lesional skin in an AD patient support the presence of biofilm therein.

Reduction of the *S. aureus* bioburden in AD is thought to be beneficial to the healing process (191). The use of topical antibiotics has been considered to decrease *S. aureus* colonization. However, this strategy is not always favorable due to concerns over the rising development of antibiotic resistance (30, 192). Thus, sustainable antimicrobial therapies targeting *S. aureus* (but without the risk of fostering resistance) are consequently of interest.

The use of sodium hypochlorite as an adjunctive treatment for AD has been recognized in clinical practice for many years (100, 108). The standard concentration of the substance in bleach baths is 0.005% (122, 126, 193)

Several clinical studies have been conducted in which patients with AD were treated with bleach baths. The results are mainly positive, with a decrease in disease severity although the effect on the presence of *S. aureus* seemed to vary (126, 127). Both reduction (194) of the bacteria, and no significant change (129) after similar treatments have been reported.

An *in vitro* study tested the susceptibility of sodium hypochlorite against *S. aureus* from varying sources, with the MIC values obtained ranging between 0.0128% and 0.82% (195). This is comparable to the MIC values found in our study, which ranged between 0.02% and 0.08%. The slight variation might be explained by different origins of the bacteria, plus altered methods of use. The RDA results from in our study further supports the antistaphylococcal effect against *S. aureus* derived from AD patients and favor its potential role as a treatment possibility to reduce the bacterial load of AD.

Biofilms pose a significant therapeutic challenge due to their resilience against the host immune system and antibiotics . Therefore, the possible ability of sodium hypochlorite to disrupt these biofilm formations is therefore of particular clinical

interest. Not only would the breakdown of biofilm allow for more efficient bacterial killing, it would also expose the underlying bacterial cells to the host's defense mechanisms. Even though sodium hypochlorite is frequently discussed as an antistaphylococcal agent in the context of AD treatment, there is very little knowledge of how the substance affects *S. aureus* biofilm.

The *ex vivo* model showed that 0.02% of sodium hypochlorite, the concentration closest to the levels used in clinical practice, was ineffective in killing skin-adhered bacteria. However, a concentration of 0.04% not only effectively reduced the loosely attached bacteria but also diminished the tightly attached bacteria by 80-90%.

Our study demonstrated that sodium hypochlorite possesses both inhibitory effects regarding biofilm formation and eradication properties against established biofilm. When the *S. aureus* biofilm was treated with 0.04% of sodium hypochlorite, the confocal microscopy revealed effective killing of the bacteria inside the biofilm. The MBEC values, ranging from 0.01% to 0.16%, were only slightly higher than the MIC values. This indicates that the substance is nearly as effective against *S. aureus* biofilms as it is against planktonic bacteria.

From a clinical perspective, the outcomes of our findings suggest that a higher concentration of sodium hypochlorite than typically used today in bleach baths could offer superior capability for reducing the bacterial burden and targeting against *S. aureus* biofilms. This might enhance the treatment outcomes for patients with infected AD.

However, it remains crucial to consider the balance between the desired effectiveness of a treatment and the possibility of cytotoxic side effects. Multiple studies report excellent skin tolerance of bleach baths at the commonly used concentration 0.005%, with no signs of impairment to the skin barrier compared to water baths (193, 196). A higher concentration may pose a risk of skin irritations and potentially harm the skin barrier. In this *in vitro* study, we found that when keratinocytes were exposed to sodium hypochlorite concentrations of $\geq 0.02\%$, they showed signs of cytotoxic impact. However, these findings are based on *in vitro* data and the translation to clinical practice requires careful consideration, as the *in vivo* environment is much more complex.

Paper II

Potassium permanganate is commonly used to treat dermatological conditions such as wounds and AD. The concentration range used in clinics is usually between 0.001% and 0.1%. The substance is deemed an antibacterial agent, although the evidence for its efficacy against bacteria from AD skin is not well studied. One of

the few investigations made was a study conducted by Stadler et al. in 1992, in which bacteria derived from the skin of AD patients demonstrated a dose-dependent decrease in survival when exposed to clinically relevant concentrations of potassium permanganate for five minutes (137). Beyond this study, only a limited number of investigations have been conducted, and the understanding of the effects of potassium permanganate on *S. aureus* biofilm is practically non-existent. To support the continued use of this well-tolerated, cost-efficient and anecdotally beneficial treatment there is a need for concrete data demonstrating its efficacy

In the viable count assay, mimicking clinical conditions (131) with an incubation time of 10 minutes and the use of clinically relevant concentrations (ranging from 0.01% to 0.5%), *S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis* isolates were significantly reduced or totally eradicated. The antibacterial effect is further underscored by the results from the RDA, in which a dose-dependent inhibition of bacterial growth is evident. These findings suggest that potassium permanganate may be effective in reducing the bacterial burden in AD.

The presence of *staphylococcal* biofilm formation is thought to further contribute to the persistence and severity of lesions in AD (190). Data from our study indicate that a majority of staphylococcal strains from AD patients form a reduced amount of biofilm when subjected to potassium permanganate at an in vitro concentration of 0.01%. These findings further reinforce the anecdotally reported favorable properties of potassium permanganate as a treatment in infected AD. However, the findings regarding the weak efficacy of potassium permanganate in eradicating established S. aureus biofilm needs to be recognized. In our study, the MBEC values were somewhat inconsistent and several of the biofilms formed endured even the highest tested concentration of 1 %. This was further demonstrated by examining pegs from CBD with scanning electron microscope. As the concentrations of potassium permanganate rose, there was a decrease in the amount of bacteria observed, along with alterations in bacterial structures. However, even at the highest concentration of 1%, bacteria were still observed attached to the pegs. At this intensity, the persistence of biofilm despite the application of potassium permanganate implies that it may not be a efficient enough as a standalone antibiofilm treatment in AD. These results carry essential implications for clinical practice. They emphasizing clinicians to be aware of the limitations of potassium permanganate and that they should contemplate alternative or complementary therapies when managing biofilm-related infections in AD.

Taken as a whole, our findings revealed that potassium permanganate exhibited antibacterial effects in vitro against planktonic *S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis* derived from AD skin, but a weak capacity to erase preformed biofilm. The dose-dependent effects seen in this study triggers a desire to establish an optimal concentration that is both effective against *S. aureus* and tolerable for the patient. If used inappropriately, potassium permanganate can cause skin irritation (133) which instead of helping the patient might cause an exacerbation of the AD. This study

supports the consideration of potassium permanganate as a potential adjunctive therapy in managing AD, but additional research is required to explore the optimal concentration and application methods.

Paper III

The study protocol aimed to assess the safety and tolerability of a novel wound gel containing ascending doses of TCP-25. Alongside this, the exploratory aim was to collect samples from the wounds and dressings for exploratory research. Being a first-in-human clinical trial the safety considerations were paramount. To achieve this, a comprehensive and detailed protocol developed outlining safety measures, including inclusion and exclusion criteria, dosing regimen, monitoring parameters, and procedures for reporting adverse events. Adherence to the protocol was essential to ensure participant safety throughout the trial and to maintain consistency and standardization across study procedures and participants. The clear endpoints helped to keep focus and ensured that the trial generated meaningful data.

Paper IV

Wound healing is one of the most intricate mechanisms in the human body, involving the activation of numerous biological pathways (197). The purpose of this study was to follow, in a controlled manner, the dynamics of normal epidermal wound healing in respect to bacterial colonization, exudation and inflammation.

The study design with manufacturing of standardized wounds on human skin and a thorough follow up at multiple time points is a great strength in this study. This enabled us to monitor a wide range of aspect throughout the normal healing process of epidermal wounds. However, it also has a few limitations, one being the uncertainty of how the occlusive Mepliex dressing affect the bacterial growth. Other types of dressings might have given another outcome (198).

Directly after wounding, there was none or close to none bacterial growth, but on the following measurement points there was a noticeable increase until Day 8, followed by a drop in bacterial levels on Day 11. A damp environment promotes bacterial growth and the moist conditions within the wound caused by exudation and occlusive dressing is thought to further enhance bacterial proliferation (199). The decline on day 11 could be explained by the decreased exudation when the wound heals.

Throughout the healing process, the bacterial composition remained largely consistent for most of the wounds, primarily consisting of commensal skin bacteria.

However, there were a few exceptions presenting the possible pathogen *S. aureus,* recognized for its association with wound infections (200). Nevertheless, it is important to note that wounds can heal successfully despite the presence of *S. aureus* (201). In our study, we found no substantial disparities in the healing outcome between wounds containing commensals or *S. aureus*.

The strong correlation between the bacterial amounts in swabs and dressings supports the idea that swabs accurately reflect the bacterial composition present in wound dressing fluid. Furthermore, these findings propose that when the swabbing method is not advised (for example if the patient experience pain) a substitute could be to examine the dressing fluid instead.

Exudation is a vital component of wound healing. It facilitates the removal of debris, bacteria and dead tissue, while simultaneously providing the wound area with vital nutrients and growth factors needed for tissue repair (202).

An interesting finding in our study was the weak to nonexistent correlation between bacterial amounts and protein levels in the wounds. This indicates that the quantity of bacteria does not affect the level of exudate in normal epidermal wound healing.

Inflammation is known to play a crucial role in wound healing. In our study, we analyzed 10 different cytokines to elucidate inflammatory mechanisms during normal epidermal wound healing. We observed a consistent pattern, with the majority of cytokines peaking on Day 5. This correlated well with the protein content and supported the association between inflammation and the production of exudate through capillary leakage (202). However, the cytokine levels showed little to none correlation with bacterial levels, a finding which suggests that bacteria may not be the primary factor in the inflammatory process of normally healing wounds.

Another crucial participant in the wound healing process is the neutrophils involved in pathogen control, and promotion of inflammatory processes, and tissue repair (203). To assess their presence in the wound, we measured neutrophilic protein levels and found that they had a pattern much alike the inflammatory cytokines with MPO and NE exhibiting increased levels on Day 5. However, the HBP was increasing as early as Day 3, possibly due to it having been stored in vesicles with a greater tendency to release than for the other two proteins (204). IL-8 is known to be an important chemoattractant for neutrophils, guiding them to the site of injury (205). Our study supports this interaction with a high correlation between the neutrophil protein levels and IL-8 in the wounds. As with the cytokine levels, we found a weak correlation between neutrophil proteins and bacterial quantities. This allowed us to speculate that host factors rather than bacterial amounts might play more of a dominant role in neutrophil activation during the wound healing process (Figure 21).

Collectively, this study provides valuable insights into the intricate process of wound healing. We have demonstrated that different factors, like bacterial levels,

exudation, inflammatory cytokines and neutrophil activity all contribute to this process without being entirely dependent on each other.



Fig 21 – Dynamic overview of epidermal wound healing

An overview of the patterns of bacterial presence, fluid secretion, neutrophil protein levels, and inflammatory processes in normally healing epidermal wounds over time.
Main conclusions

Paper I

In conclusion, our findings reinforce the usage of sodium hypochlorite in the management of AD to reduce the burden of *S. aureus*. Our *in vitro* findings points to the possibility that higher concentrations than those typically applied could be more beneficial to reduce *S. aureus* biofilm. Although, there must be a careful consideration of safety to avoid any adverse outcomes.

Paper II

The primary takeaway from this study is that potassium permanganate exhibits *in vitro* antibacterial effects against *S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis* sourced from AD skin. Nevertheless, its capacity to eliminate established staphylococcal biofilm is limited. Collectively, potassium permanganate presents a potential as a valuable adjunctive therapy for AD.

Paper III

Further clinical trials are needed to examine to the tolerability and efficacy of the novel TCP-25 containing wound gel.

Paper IV

In this study we found that during normal epidermal wound healing the bacterial numbers increase rapidly after wounding and stabilize by Day 8. Inflammation, exudation and neutrophil activity were not correlated to bacterial counts indicating that the process of healing is primarily driven by the host mechanisms regardless of colonizing bacteria.

Future perspectives

The landscape of treatment for AD is undergoing an expansion of new therapeutic options with the introduction of topical and systemic Janus kinase inhibitors (JAK-inhibitors) (206). These advancements are undoubtedly beneficial additions for management of this common disease. However, I remain convinced that that there will remain a need for wide array of treatment alternatives enabling for a patient oriented treatment focusing on tolerability, management and efficacy.

The bacterial components in AD plays a role in the disease severity underscoring the importance of addressing this aspect effectively (49). Moreover, as challenges related to antibiotic resistance escalate there will be an ongoing need for efficient antimicrobial therapies as alternatives to the use of topical or oral antibiotics.

The findings of anti-biofilm effects against *S. aureus* biofilm from clinical isolates of sodium hypochlorite in paper I prompts consideration of raising the current concentrations utilized in clinical practice. However, this adjustment must be approached cautiously to minimize the risk of adverse effects on the skin. Therefore, additional research is encouraged to thoroughly investigate this matter further.

Up to now, potassium permanganate has primarily been used based on clinical experiences. During my residency at a dermatological clinic, I have witnessed firsthand its beneficial effects on numerous patients, with oozing, itching dermatitis, troublesome wounds. Sometimes however, questions have been raised about the evidence supporting its use. The study detailed in Paper II of this thesis has demonstrated its antibacterial effects against *S. aureus* isolated from patients with AD, providing empirical support for its role as an antimicrobial treatment for such conditions.

Patients commonly describe a reduction of itchiness in lesions following potassium permanganate treatment. This improvement may be linked to decreased bacterial levels and subsequent reduction in inflammatory responses. However, other mechanisms may also contribute to this effect. Evidence indicates that potassium permanganate has the ability to break down bacterial toxins in drinking water (136). It is possible that this mechanism could extend to neutralizing bacterial toxins on the skin as well.

With this consideration in mind, we have conducted initial tests indicating that potassium permanganate may impact the protein structures of bacterial toxins, as

well as proinflammatory and pruritic cytokines. This work will be continued as it could offer a potential explanation for the observed itch-relieving effects of the substance in clinical settings. While it may not represent a groundbreaking advancement in medicine, it holds potential interest for everyday dermatologists supporting this frequently used substance. And if this theory will be validated, I am delighted to have contributed to this exploration.

Another emerging field addressing the altered microbiome in AD is skin probiotics. The idea is to promote the growth of beneficial commensal bacteria on the skin, which in turn inhibits the colonization of pathogenic bacteria like *S. aureus*. This can be achieved by introducing beneficial microorganisms or factors that promote their growth, thereby strengthening the microbial barrier and leading to long-term improvement of the skin barrier.

The microflora and its interactions with the host during wound healing is a field scarcely examined and could give important information that could yield valuable insights for developing effective treatments opting for a successful healing. Further analyses of this material will be undertaken to deepen our understanding of normal wound healing mechanisms.

Following the initial part of this clinical trial two additional sections were incorporated where the tolerability of the wound gel were tested on venous leg ulcers and dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa wounds. For these subsequent parts I assumed the role of primary investigator, and I am eager to continue leveraging this experience to make further contributions in the future.

Alongside the work with this thesis, I concurrently served as a resident for 5.5 years at the Department of Dermatology and Venereology at Skåne University Hospital. I find the combination of clinical work and research within the same field to be advantageous and stimulating for new ideas and adds a significance to the research process. During my clinical practice, I have developed a growing interest in the treatment of leg ulcers. With the increased aging population, there will be a demand for efficient treatments that promote successful healing and support active aging. These advancements are something I aspire to be a part of and feel hopeful that it will be possible in the future, thanks to the encouraging environment I'm positioned in with supportive collogues and research partners.

Acknowledgements

I wish to extend my sincerest appreciation to the numerous individuals who have supported me and my work with this thesis during the journey of my PhD studies. A special acknowledgment is reserved for:

Andreas Sonesson, my main supervisor. Thank you for your persistence and never lacking enthusiasm. Your approach to overcoming obstacles, an ever-present aspect of research, has been truly inspiring. Your guidance has provided clarity and direction whenever doubts arose. Your patience, accessibility and dedication have made my growth and development enjoyable. You have created an open-minded environment where discussions are both stimulating and enjoyable. It has been a privilege to have such a dedicated supervisor, and I hope for our collaboration to continue in the years to come. Thank you!

Artur Schmidtchen, my co-supervisor. Thank you for allowing me to join your research group at BMC even as a medical student. I'm grateful for the guidance over the years, emphasizing the beauty in the concept of "keep it simple". I am especially thankful for the opportunity you gave me to lead the clinical trials; it has been an inspiring and educational experience.

A warm thank you to all my colleagues and co-authors at BMC:

Ann-Charlotte Strömdahl, I want to express my gratitude for your continuous support and patient responses to what might seem like "stupid questions", over and over again. Your guidance at the lab has been invaluable.

Karl Wallblom, my right hand during the clinical trials. Thank you for trusting me as your supervisor, it has been the easiest of tasks due to your impressive capacity, thoroughness and sense of humour. I look forward to many more collaborations in the future!

Jitka Petrlova, I appreciate your active engagement in discussions and excellent guidance while teaching me new laboratory methods, thank you.

Ganna Petruk, Fredrik Forsberg, Jane Fisher, Manoj Puthia, Congyu Luo, José FP Cardoso, your generosity in sharing ideas and teamworking have been inspiring

Maria Baumgarten, a warm thank you for support and technical skills with the scanning electron microscope and the enjoyable conversations we've had.

Torgny Sunnerhagen, thank you for engaging in my research questions, and your reliable support whenever I needed it. Additionally, thank you for your friendship.

A heartfelt thank you to my colleagues at the Dermatology clinic, acknowledging my occasional absence during the work with this thesis:

Gustav Christensen, head of the Department of Dermatology and Venereology. I want to express my gratitude for giving me the pleasure to work in such a pleasant clinic with an encouraging and inspiring atmosphere. Thank you also for your understanding of the time and energy consumed during the work with the thesis and for your support in me.

Karim Saleh, firstly, I extend my appreciation for you being the inspiring dermatologist I encountered as a medical student, making me realize that this is exactly what I want to do. Thank you also for trusting me as you co-PI during the first clinical trial.

Katarina Lundqvist, my colleague from the clinic. I want to express my gratitude for your support and availability during the clinical trials.

Emma Belfrage, my clinical supervisor, source of inspiration and friend. I am deeply thankful for being under your guidance. Your vast knowledge, accessibility, and enthusiasm are luxuries I cherish, just a few steps away in our offices. I'm grateful for our shared journey towards dissertation; it has been quite an experience. Thank you for bringing laughter into even the most frustrating situations, and for making every task feel worthwhile as long as we can check it off from our to-do list.

An extra warm thank you to my colleagues, friends and former roommates Valdis Thorallsdottir and Helga Magnusdottir for consistently showing interest in my research.

Susanne Erdman and **Anne Nielsen**, it was truly enjoyable to work alongside you during the clinical trial. Your expertise and enthusiasm for delivering high-quality work were invaluable.

Kerstin Weber and Åsa Håkansson, members of the team at the Phase 1 unit in Lund. Thank you for an excellent teamwork, I've learnt so much from you.

To all my friends, a special thanks for providing much-needed distractions from work, supportive conversations and hours of laughter

Anna Bläckberg. Thank you for being my best friend, an inspirational research colleague and a (promising?) shuffle dance partner. I'm grateful for you believing in me when I doubt, pushing me when I stand still and always know how to make me happy.

Lotta Palmqvist, Thank you for great conversations about serious and unserious things. Your cheering during my successes and support on challenging days has meant a lot to me.

My mother **Marie Brannesjö**, thank you for everything, for always being there with a warm heart and never fading support and interest. And thank you **Rune** for being such a generous and kind person. After this spring, I really look forward visiting you in Brantevik!

My father **Hans Eriksson**, thank you for introducing the interest for research to our family from my early years. Thank you for your encouraging and inspirational conversations, filled with a continuous flow of new and innovative ideas waiting to be explored. **Karin**, thank you for bringing an incredible blend of energy, creativity, and organization to our family.

My brother **Arvid Eriksson**, thank you for allowing me to perform early experiments with (and sometimes on) you in our childhood. Thank you for your support and ability to understand me in ways that no one else can.

My husband **Jakob Lundgren**, thank you for being there from the beginning, inspiring me to start a research carrier early on. I appreciate the many experiences, trips and meals we've shared together over the last decade. Thank you for your extraordinary love and support, it's been vital during this journey. Thank you for being on "team Sigrid"!

I also want to thank all patients that have contributed to my research by participating in the studies. Without you, this wouldn't have been possible.

References

- 1. Bolognia JL, Schaffer JV, Cerroni L, Callen JP, Cowen EW, Hruza GJ, et al. Dermatology. 4 ed ed. Place of publication unknown: Elsevier; 2018.
- 2. Madison KC. Barrier function of the skin: "la raison d'etre" of the epidermis. J Invest Dermatol. 2003;121(2):231-41.
- 3. Proksch E, Brandner JM, Jensen JM. The skin: an indispensable barrier. Exp Dermatol. 2008;17(12):1063-72.
- Griffiths C, Barker J, Bleiker T, Hussain W, Simpson RC. Rook's textbook of dermatology. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2024. Available from: <u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&scope=site&db=nlebk&db=nla bk&AN=3808156</u>.
- 5. Parkin J, Cohen B. An overview of the immune system. Lancet. 2001;357(9270):1777-89.
- 6. Bianchi ME, Manfredi AA. Immunology. Dangers in and out. Science. 2009;323(5922):1683-4.
- 7. Chaplin DD. Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;125(2 Suppl 2):S3-23.
- 8. Nicholson LB. The immune system. Essays Biochem. 2016;60(3):275-301.
- 9. Marshall JS, Warrington R, Watson W, Kim HL. An introduction to immunology and immunopathology. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2018;14(Suppl 2):49.
- 10. Powers CE, McShane DB, Gilligan PH, Burkhart CN, Morrell DS. Microbiome and pediatric atopic dermatitis. J Dermatol. 2015;42(12):1137-42.
- 11. Williams MR, Gallo RL. The role of the skin microbiome in atopic dermatitis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2015;15(11):65.
- Cogen AL, Yamasaki K, Sanchez KM, Dorschner RA, Lai Y, MacLeod DT, et al. Selective antimicrobial action is provided by phenol-soluble modulins derived from Staphylococcus epidermidis, a normal resident of the skin. J Invest Dermatol. 2010;130(1):192-200.
- 13. Iwase T, Uehara Y, Shinji H, Tajima A, Seo H, Takada K, et al. Staphylococcus epidermidis Esp inhibits Staphylococcus aureus biofilm formation and nasal colonization. Nature. 2010;465(7296):346-9.
- 14. Kong HH, Segre JA. The Molecular Revolution in Cutaneous Biology: Investigating the Skin Microbiome. J Invest Dermatol. 2017;137(5):e119-e22.

- 15. Grice EA, Kong HH, Conlan S, Deming CB, Davis J, Young AC, et al. Topographical and temporal diversity of the human skin microbiome. Science. 2009;324(5931):1190-2.
- Skowron K, Bauza-Kaszewska J, Kraszewska Z, Wiktorczyk-Kapischke N, Grudlewska-Buda K, Kwiecińska-Piróg J, et al. Human Skin Microbiome: Impact of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Factors on Skin Microbiota. Microorganisms. 2021;9(3).
- Costello EK, Lauber CL, Hamady M, Fierer N, Gordon JI, Knight R. Bacterial community variation in human body habitats across space and time. Science. 2009;326(5960):1694-7.
- 18. Grice EA, Segre JA. The skin microbiome. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2011;9(4):244-53.
- Flowers L, Grice EA. The Skin Microbiota: Balancing Risk and Reward. Cell Host Microbe. 2020;28(2):190-200.
- 20. Tomic-Canic M, Burgess JL, O'Neill KE, Strbo N, Pastar I. Skin Microbiota and its Interplay with Wound Healing. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2020;21(Suppl 1):36-43.
- Zeeuwen PL, Boekhorst J, van den Bogaard EH, de Koning HD, van de Kerkhof PM, Saulnier DM, et al. Microbiome dynamics of human epidermis following skin barrier disruption. Genome Biol. 2012;13(11):R101.
- 22. Eming SA, Martin P, Tomic-Canic M. Wound repair and regeneration: mechanisms, signaling, and translation. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(265):265sr6.
- 23. Lai Y, Di Nardo A, Nakatsuji T, Leichtle A, Yang Y, Cogen AL, et al. Commensal bacteria regulate Toll-like receptor 3-dependent inflammation after skin injury. Nat Med. 2009;15(12):1377-82.
- 24. Shi B, Bangayan NJ, Curd E, Taylor PA, Gallo RL, Leung DYM, et al. The skin microbiome is different in pediatric versus adult atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016;138(4):1233-6.
- 25. Oh J, Byrd AL, Park M, Kong HH, Segre JA. Temporal Stability of the Human Skin Microbiome. Cell. 2016;165(4):854-66.
- 26. Classics in infectious diseases. "On abscesses". Alexander Ogston (1844-1929). Rev Infect Dis. 1984;6(1):122-8.
- 27. Weidenmaier C, Goerke C, Wolz C. Staphylococcus aureus determinants for nasal colonization. Trends Microbiol. 2012;20(5):243-50.
- 28. Krismer B, Weidenmaier C, Zipperer A, Peschel A. The commensal lifestyle of Staphylococcus aureus and its interactions with the nasal microbiota. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2017;15(11):675-87.
- 29. von Eiff C, Becker K, Machka K, Stammer H, Peters G. Nasal carriage as a source of Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia. Study Group. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(1):11-6.
- 30. Guo Y, Song G, Sun M, Wang J, Wang Y. Prevalence and Therapies of Antibiotic-Resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020;10:107.
- Paller AS, Kong HH, Seed P, Naik S, Scharschmidt TC, Gallo RL, et al. The microbiome in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2019;143(1):26-35.

- 32. Lacey KA, Geoghegan JA, McLoughlin RM. The Role of Staphylococcus aureus Virulence Factors in Skin Infection and Their Potential as Vaccine Antigens. Pathogens. 2016;5(1).
- 33. Herman-Bausier P, Labate C, Towell AM, Derclaye S, Geoghegan JA, Dufrene YF. Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor A is a force-sensitive molecular switch that activates bacterial adhesion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;115(21):5564-9.
- 34. Foster TJ. The remarkably multifunctional fibronectin binding proteins of Staphylococcus aureus. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2016;35(12):1923-31.
- 35. Cheung GYC, Bae JS, Otto M. Pathogenicity and virulence of Staphylococcus aureus. Virulence. 2021;12(1):547-69.
- Karlsson A, Arvidson S. Variation in extracellular protease production among clinical isolates of Staphylococcus aureus due to different levels of expression of the protease repressor sarA. Infect Immun. 2002;70(8):4239-46.
- O'Riordan K, Lee JC. Staphylococcus aureus capsular polysaccharides. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2004;17(1):218-34.
- Bear A, Locke T, Rowland-Jones S, Pecetta S, Bagnoli F, Darton TC. The immune evasion roles of Staphylococcus aureus protein A and impact on vaccine development. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2023;13:1242702.
- Leistner R, Hanitsch LG, Krüger R, Lindner AK, Stegemann MS, Nurjadi D. Skin Infections Due to Panton-Valentine Leukocidin-Producing S. Aureus. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2022;119(45):775-84.
- Cheng AG, McAdow M, Kim HK, Bae T, Missiakas DM, Schneewind O. Contribution of coagulases towards Staphylococcus aureus disease and protective immunity. PLoS Pathog. 2010;6(8):e1001036.
- 41. Moormeier DE, Bayles KW. Staphylococcus aureus biofilm: a complex developmental organism. Mol Microbiol. 2017;104(3):365-76.
- 42. Leung AKC, Barankin B, Leong KF. Staphylococcal-scalded skin syndrome: evaluation, diagnosis, and management. World J Pediatr. 2018;14(2):116-20.
- 43. Berger S, Kunerl A, Wasmuth S, Tierno P, Wagner K, Brügger J. Menstrual toxic shock syndrome: case report and systematic review of the literature. Lancet Infect Dis. 2019;19(9):e313-e21.
- 44. Pinchuk IV, Beswick EJ, Reyes VE. Staphylococcal enterotoxins. Toxins (Basel). 2010;2(8):2177-97.
- 45. Alam MJ, Xie L, Yap YA, Marques FZ, Robert R. Manipulating Microbiota to Treat Atopic Dermatitis: Functions and Therapies. Pathogens. 2022;11(6).
- 46. Schuler CFt, Billi AC, Maverakis E, Tsoi LC, Gudjonsson JE. Novel insights into atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2023;151(5):1145-54.
- 47. Mohammad M, Ali A, Nguyen MT, Götz F, Pullerits R, Jin T. Staphylococcus aureus lipoproteins in infectious diseases. Front Microbiol. 2022;13:1006765.
- 48. Nguyen MT, Götz F. Lipoproteins of Gram-Positive Bacteria: Key Players in the Immune Response and Virulence. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2016;80(3):891-903.
- 49. Geoghegan JA, Irvine AD, Foster TJ. Staphylococcus aureus and Atopic Dermatitis: A Complex and Evolving Relationship. Trends Microbiol. 2018;26(6):484-97.

- Gest H. The discovery of microorganisms by Robert Hooke and Antoni Van Leeuwenhoek, fellows of the Royal Society. Notes Rec R Soc Lond. 2004;58(2):187-201.
- 51. Høiby N. A short history of microbial biofilms and biofilm infections. Apmis. 2017;125(4):272-5.
- 52. Costerton JW, Geesey GG, Cheng KJ. How bacteria stick. Sci Am. 1978;238(1):86-95.
- 53. Vestby LK, Grønseth T, Simm R, Nesse LL. Bacterial Biofilm and its Role in the Pathogenesis of Disease. Antibiotics (Basel). 2020;9(2).
- 54. Hall-Stoodley L, Stoodley P. Evolving concepts in biofilm infections. Cell Microbiol. 2009;11(7):1034-43.
- 55. Donlan RM, Costerton JW. Biofilms: survival mechanisms of clinically relevant microorganisms. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2002;15(2):167-93.
- 56. Hall-Stoodley L, Stoodley P. Biofilm formation and dispersal and the transmission of human pathogens. Trends Microbiol. 2005;13(1):7-10.
- 57. Costerton JW, Cheng KJ, Geesey GG, Ladd TI, Nickel JC, Dasgupta M, et al. Bacterial biofilms in nature and disease. Annu Rev Microbiol. 1987;41:435-64.
- Peng Q, Tang X, Dong W, Sun N, Yuan W. A Review of Biofilm Formation of Staphylococcus aureus and Its Regulation Mechanism. Antibiotics (Basel). 2022;12(1).
- 59. Dunne WM, Jr. Bacterial adhesion: seen any good biofilms lately? Clin Microbiol Rev. 2002;15(2):155-66.
- 60. Mah TF, O'Toole GA. Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents. Trends Microbiol. 2001;9(1):34-9.
- 61. Hall-Stoodley L, Costerton JW, Stoodley P. Bacterial biofilms: from the natural environment to infectious diseases. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2004;2(2):95-108.
- 62. de Beer D, Stoodley P, Roe F, Lewandowski Z. Effects of biofilm structures on oxygen distribution and mass transport. Biotechnol Bioeng. 1994;43(11):1131-8.
- 63. Stoodley P, Sauer K, Davies DG, Costerton JW. Biofilms as complex differentiated communities. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2002;56:187-209.
- 64. Stoodley P, Debeer D, Lewandowski Z. Liquid flow in biofilm systems. Applied and environmental microbiology. 1994;60(8):2711-6.
- 65. Novick RP, Geisinger E. Quorum sensing in staphylococci. Annu Rev Genet. 2008;42:541-64.
- Fux CA, Wilson S, Stoodley P. Detachment characteristics and oxacillin resistance of Staphyloccocus aureus biofilm emboli in an in vitro catheter infection model. J Bacteriol. 2004;186(14):4486-91.
- 67. Lewis K. Riddle of biofilm resistance. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2001;45(4):999-1007.
- 68. Stoodley P, Wilson S, Hall-Stoodley L, Boyle JD, Lappin-Scott HM, Costerton JW. Growth and detachment of cell clusters from mature mixed-species biofilms. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2001;67(12):5608-13.

- 69. Lappin-Scott HM, Bass C. Biofilm formation: attachment, growth, and detachment of microbes from surfaces. Am J Infect Control. 2001;29(4):250-1.
- 70. Das T, Sehar S, Manefield M. The roles of extracellular DNA in the structural integrity of extracellular polymeric substance and bacterial biofilm development. Environ Microbiol Rep. 2013;5(6):778-86.
- 71. Burmølle M, Thomsen TR, Fazli M, Dige I, Christensen L, Homøe P, et al. Biofilms in chronic infections a matter of opportunity monospecies biofilms in multispecies infections. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 2010;59(3):324-36.
- 72. Flemming HC, Wingender J, Szewzyk U, Steinberg P, Rice SA, Kjelleberg S. Biofilms: an emergent form of bacterial life. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2016;14(9):563-75.
- 73. Bjerre RD, Bandier J, Skov L, Engstrand L, Johansen JD. The role of the skin microbiome in atopic dermatitis: a systematic review. The British journal of dermatology. 2017;177(5):1272-8.
- 74. Ochlich D, Rademacher F, Drerup KA, Gläser R, Harder J. The influence of the commensal skin bacterium Staphylococcus epidermidis on the epidermal barrier and inflammation: Implications for atopic dermatitis. Exp Dermatol. 2023;32(4):555-61.
- 75. Allen HB, Mueller JL. A novel finding in atopic dermatitis: film-producing Staphylococcus epidermidis as an etiology. Int J Dermatol. 2011;50(8):992-3.
- 76. Kramer ON, Strom MA, Ladizinski B, Lio PA. The history of atopic dermatitis. Clin Dermatol. 2017;35(4):344-8.
- 77. Asher MI, Montefort S, Björkstén B, Lai CK, Strachan DP, Weiland SK, et al. Worldwide time trends in the prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in childhood: ISAAC Phases One and Three repeat multicountry cross-sectional surveys. Lancet. 2006;368(9537):733-43.
- 78. Nutten S. Atopic dermatitis: global epidemiology and risk factors. Ann Nutr Metab. 2015;66 Suppl 1:8-16.
- 79. Laughter MR, Maymone MBC, Mashayekhi S, Arents BWM, Karimkhani C, Langan SM, et al. The global burden of atopic dermatitis: lessons from the Global Burden of Disease Study 1990-2017. The British journal of dermatology. 2021;184(2):304-9.
- 80. Langan SM, Irvine AD, Weidinger S. Atopic dermatitis. Lancet. 2020;396(10247):345-60.
- Silverberg JI, Gelfand JM, Margolis DJ, Boguniewicz M, Fonacier L, Grayson MH, et al. Patient burden and quality of life in atopic dermatitis in US adults: A population-based cross-sectional study. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2018;121(3):340-7.
- 82. Eyerich K, Eyerich S, Biedermann T. The Multi-Modal Immune Pathogenesis of Atopic Eczema. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(12):788-801.
- Alexander H, Brown S, Danby S, Flohr C. Research Techniques Made Simple: Transepidermal Water Loss Measurement as a Research Tool. J Invest Dermatol. 2018;138(11):2295-300.e1.
- 84. Jungersted JM, Scheer H, Mempel M, Baurecht H, Cifuentes L, Høgh JK, et al. Stratum corneum lipids, skin barrier function and filaggrin mutations in patients with atopic eczema. Allergy. 2010;65(7):911-8.

- 85. Patrick GJ, Archer NK, Miller LS. Which Way Do We Go? Complex Interactions in Atopic Dermatitis Pathogenesis. J Invest Dermatol. 2021;141(2):274-84.
- 86. Nakatsuji T, Chen TH, Narala S, Chun KA, Two AM, Yun T, et al. Antimicrobials from human skin commensal bacteria protect against Staphylococcus aureus and are deficient in atopic dermatitis. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(378).
- Thomsen SF, Ulrik CS, Kyvik KO, Hjelmborg J, Skadhauge LR, Steffensen I, et al. Importance of genetic factors in the etiology of atopic dermatitis: a twin study. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2007;28(5):535-9.
- 88. Apfelbacher CJ, Diepgen TL, Schmitt J. Determinants of eczema: population-based cross-sectional study in Germany. Allergy. 2011;66(2):206-13.
- 89. O'Regan GM, Sandilands A, McLean WHI, Irvine AD. Filaggrin in atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;122(4):689-93.
- 90. Weidinger S, Beck LA, Bieber T, Kabashima K, Irvine AD. Atopic dermatitis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4(1):1.
- 91. Brunner PM, Guttman-Yassky E. Racial differences in atopic dermatitis. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2019;122(5):449-55.
- 92. Kim J, Kim BE, Ahn K, Leung DYM. Interactions Between Atopic Dermatitis and Staphylococcus aureus Infection: Clinical Implications. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res. 2019;11(5):593-603.
- 93. Narla S, Silverberg JI. The Role of Environmental Exposures in Atopic Dermatitis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2020;20(12):74.
- 94. Kiiski V, Karlsson O, Remitz A, Reitamo S. High serum total IgE predicts poor longterm outcome in atopic dermatitis. Acta Derm Venereol. 2015;95(8):943-7.
- 95. Silverberg NB. Typical and atypical clinical appearance of atopic dermatitis. Clin Dermatol. 2017;35(4):354-9.
- 96. Yew YW, Thyssen JP, Silverberg JI. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the regional and age-related differences in atopic dermatitis clinical characteristics. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2019;80(2):390-401.
- 97. Severity scoring of atopic dermatitis: the SCORAD index. Consensus Report of the European Task Force on Atopic Dermatitis. Dermatology. 1993;186(1):23-31.
- 98. Hanifin JM, Thurston M, Omoto M, Cherill R, Tofte SJ, Graeber M. The eczema area and severity index (EASI): assessment of reliability in atopic dermatitis. EASI Evaluator Group. Exp Dermatol. 2001;10(1):11-8.
- 99. Wollenberg A, Kinberger M, Arents B, Aszodi N, Avila Valle G, Barbarot S, et al. European guideline (EuroGuiDerm) on atopic eczema - part II: non-systemic treatments and treatment recommendations for special AE patient populations. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2022;36(11):1904-26.
- 100. Totté JE, van der Feltz WT, Hennekam M, van Belkum A, van Zuuren EJ, Pasmans SG. Prevalence and odds of Staphylococcus aureus carriage in atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The British journal of dermatology. 2016;175(4):687-95.

- 101. Kennedy EA, Connolly J, Hourihane JO, Fallon PG, McLean WHI, Murray D, et al. Skin microbiome before development of atopic dermatitis: Early colonization with commensal staphylococci at 2 months is associated with a lower risk of atopic dermatitis at 1 year. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017;139(1):166-72.
- 102. Ong PY, Ohtake T, Brandt C, Strickland I, Boguniewicz M, Ganz T, et al. Endogenous antimicrobial peptides and skin infections in atopic dermatitis. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(15):1151-60.
- 103. Riethmuller C, McAleer MA, Koppes SA, Abdayem R, Franz J, Haftek M, et al. Filaggrin breakdown products determine corneocyte conformation in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015;136(6):1573-80.e2.
- 104. Hwang J, Thompson A, Jaros J, Blackcloud P, Hsiao J, Shi VY. Updated understanding of Staphylococcus aureus in atopic dermatitis: From virulence factors to commensals and clonal complexes. Exp Dermatol. 2021;30(10):1532-45.
- 105. Gonzalez T, Stevens ML, Baatyrbek Kyzy A, Alarcon R, He H, Kroner JW, et al. Biofilm propensity of Staphylococcus aureus skin isolates is associated with increased atopic dermatitis severity and barrier dysfunction in the MPAACH pediatric cohort. Allergy. 2021;76(1):302-13.
- 106. Di Domenico EG, Cavallo I, Bordignon V, Prignano G, Sperduti I, Gurtner A, et al. Inflammatory cytokines and biofilm production sustain Staphylococcus aureus outgrowth and persistence: a pivotal interplay in the pathogenesis of Atopic Dermatitis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):9573.
- 107. Luo J, Zhu Z, Zhai Y, Zeng J, Li L, Wang D, et al. The Role of TSLP in Atopic Dermatitis: From Pathogenetic Molecule to Therapeutical Target. Mediators Inflamm. 2023;2023:7697699.
- 108. Ross G. Treatments for atopic dermatitis. Aust Prescr. 2023;46(1):9-12.
- 109. Chu DK, Schneider L, Asiniwasis RN, Boguniewicz M, De Benedetto A, Ellison K, et al. Atopic dermatitis (eczema) guidelines: 2023 American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology/American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters GRADE- and Institute of Medicine-based recommendations. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2024;132(3):274-312.
- Abeck D, Mempel M. Staphylococcus aureus colonization in atopic dermatitis and its therapeutic implications. The British journal of dermatology. 1998;139 Suppl 53:13-6.
- Brockow K, Grabenhorst P, Abeck D, Traupe B, Ring J, Hoppe U, et al. Effect of gentian violet, corticosteroid and tar preparations in Staphylococcus-aureuscolonized atopic eczema. Dermatology. 1999;199(3):231-6.
- 112. Leung DYM. Can antibiotics be harmful in atopic dermatitis? The British journal of dermatology. 2018;179(4):807-8.
- Peck B, Workeneh B, Kadikoy H, Patel SJ, Abdellatif A. Spectrum of sodium hypochlorite toxicity in man-also a concern for nephrologists. NDT Plus. 2011;4(4):231-5.
- 114. Racioppi F, Daskaleros PA, Besbelli N, Borges A, Deraemaeker C, Magalini SI, et al. Household bleaches based on sodium hypochlorite: review of acute toxicology and poison control center experience. Food Chem Toxicol. 1994;32(9):845-61.

- 115. Bruch MK. Toxicity and safety of topical sodium hypochlorite. Contrib Nephrol. 2007;154:24-38.
- 116. Nixon GA, Tyson CA, Wertz WC. Interspecies comparisons of skin irritancy. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1975;31(3):481-90.
- 117. Davids PH, Bartelsman JF, Tilanus HW, van Lanschot JJ. [Consequences of caustic damage of the esophagus]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd. 2001;145(44):2105-8.
- 118. Kuiper JW, Groeneveld AB, Slutsky AS, Plötz FB. Mechanical ventilation and acute renal failure. Crit Care Med. 2005;33(6):1408-15.
- 119. Arévalo-Silva C, Eliashar R, Wohlgelernter J, Elidan J, Gross M. Ingestion of caustic substances: a 15-year experience. Laryngoscope. 2006;116(8):1422-6.
- Ross MP, Spiller HA. Fatal ingestion of sodium hypochlorite bleach with associated hypernatremia and hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis. Vet Hum Toxicol. 1999;41(2):82-6.
- Slaughter RJ, Watts M, Vale JA, Grieve JR, Schep LJ. The clinical toxicology of sodium hypochlorite. Clin Toxicol (Phila). 2019;57(5):303-11.
- 122. Barnes TM, Greive KA. Use of bleach baths for the treatment of infected atopic eczema. Australas J Dermatol. 2013;54(4):251-8.
- 123. Estrela C, Estrela CR, Barbin EL, Spanó JC, Marchesan MA, Pécora JD. Mechanism of action of sodium hypochlorite. Braz Dent J. 2002;13(2):113-7.
- 124. da Cruz Nizer WS, Inkovskiy V, Overhage J. Surviving Reactive Chlorine Stress: Responses of Gram-Negative Bacteria to Hypochlorous Acid. Microorganisms. 2020;8(8).
- 125. Winterbourn CC. Biological reactivity and biomarkers of the neutrophil oxidant, hypochlorous acid. Toxicology. 2002;181-182:223-7.
- 126. Wong SM, Ng TG, Baba R. Efficacy and safety of sodium hypochlorite (bleach) baths in patients with moderate to severe atopic dermatitis in Malaysia. J Dermatol. 2013;40(11):874-80.
- 127. Majewski S, Bhattacharya T, Asztalos M, Bohaty B, Durham KC, West DP, et al. Sodium hypochlorite body wash in the management of Staphylococcus aureuscolonized moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis in infants, children, and adolescents. Pediatr Dermatol. 2019;36(4):442-7.
- 128. Ryan C, Shaw RE, Cockerell CJ, Hand S, Ghali FE. Novel sodium hypochlorite cleanser shows clinical response and excellent acceptability in the treatment of atopic dermatitis. Pediatr Dermatol. 2013;30(3):308-15.
- 129. Stolarczyk A, Perez-Nazario N, Knowlden SA, Chinchilli E, Grier A, Paller A, et al. Bleach baths enhance skin barrier, reduce itch but do not normalize skin dysbiosis in atopic dermatitis. Arch Dermatol Res. 2023;315(10):2883-92.
- Ebadian M, Al Haddabi A, Shpadaruk V, Woo PN. National survey on the management of potassium permanganate by dermatologists. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2022;47(1):155-6.
- 131. Palaniappan V, Karthikeyan K. Potassium permanganate: a 'desert island drug' in dermatology. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2022;47(9):1650-7.

- 132. Chin G, Nicholson H, Demirel S, Affleck A. Topical potassium permanganate solution use in dermatology: comparison of guidelines and clinical practice. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2022;47(5):966-7.
- Baron S, Moss C. Caustic burn caused by potassium permanganate. Arch Dis Child. 2003;88(2):96.
- Carvalho JR, Machado MV, Carrilho-Ribeiro L, Marinho RT. Potassium permanganate - an odd cause of caustic injury. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. 2019;43(3):230-1.
- 135. Carney BH. Vaginal burns from potassium permanganate. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1953;65(1):127-30.
- 136. Fan J, Daly R, Hobson P, Ho L, Brookes J. Impact of potassium permanganate on cyanobacterial cell integrity and toxin release and degradation. Chemosphere. 2013;92(5):529-34.
- 137. Stalder JF, Fleury M, Sourisse M, Allavoine T, Chalamet C, Brosset P, et al. Comparative effects of two topical antiseptics (chlorhexidine vs KMn04) on bacterial skin flora in atopic dermatitis. Acta Derm Venereol Suppl (Stockh). 1992;176:132-4.
- 138. Edwards H, Finlayson K, Courtney M, Graves N, Gibb M, Parker C. Health service pathways for patients with chronic leg ulcers: identifying effective pathways for facilitation of evidence based wound care. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:86.
- 139. Sen CK, Gordillo GM, Roy S, Kirsner R, Lambert L, Hunt TK, et al. Human skin wounds: a major and snowballing threat to public health and the economy. Wound Repair Regen. 2009;17(6):763-71.
- 140. Garraud O, Hozzein WN, Badr G. Wound healing: time to look for intelligent, 'natural' immunological approaches? BMC Immunol. 2017;18(Suppl 1):23.
- Reinke JM, Sorg H. Wound repair and regeneration. Eur Surg Res. 2012;49(1):35-43.
- 142. Eming SA, Krieg T, Davidson JM. Inflammation in wound repair: molecular and cellular mechanisms. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127(3):514-25.
- Singer AJ, Clark RA. Cutaneous wound healing. N Engl J Med. 1999;341(10):738-46.
- 144. Palta S, Saroa R, Palta A. Overview of the coagulation system. Indian J Anaesth. 2014;58(5):515-23.
- 145. Heldin CH, Westermark B. Mechanism of action and in vivo role of platelet-derived growth factor. Physiol Rev. 1999;79(4):1283-316.
- 146. Werner S, Grose R. Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. Physiol Rev. 2003;83(3):835-70.
- 147. MacLeod AS, Mansbridge JN. The Innate Immune System in Acute and Chronic Wounds. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle). 2016;5(2):65-78.
- 148. Herrero-Cervera A, Soehnlein O, Kenne E. Neutrophils in chronic inflammatory diseases. Cell Mol Immunol. 2022;19(2):177-91.
- 149. Elliott MR, Koster KM, Murphy PS. Efferocytosis Signaling in the Regulation of Macrophage Inflammatory Responses. J Immunol. 2017;198(4):1387-94.

- 150. Koh TJ, DiPietro LA. Inflammation and wound healing: the role of the macrophage. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2011;13:e23.
- 151. DiPietro LA, Polverini PJ. Role of the macrophage in the positive and negative regulation of wound neovascularization. Behring Inst Mitt. 1993(92):238-47.
- 152. Patel S, Maheshwari A, Chandra A. Biomarkers for wound healing and their evaluation. J Wound Care. 2016;25(1):46-55.
- 153. Fantin A, Vieira JM, Gestri G, Denti L, Schwarz Q, Prykhozhij S, et al. Tissue macrophages act as cellular chaperones for vascular anastomosis downstream of VEGF-mediated endothelial tip cell induction. Blood. 2010;116(5):829-40.
- 154. Martin P. Wound healing--aiming for perfect skin regeneration. Science. 1997;276(5309):75-81.
- 155. Lau K, Paus R, Tiede S, Day P, Bayat A. Exploring the role of stem cells in cutaneous wound healing. Exp Dermatol. 2009;18(11):921-33.
- 156. Miller SJ, Burke EM, Rader MD, Coulombe PA, Lavker RM. Re-epithelialization of porcine skin by the sweat apparatus. J Invest Dermatol. 1998;110(1):13-9.
- 157. Ellis S, Lin EJ, Tartar D. Immunology of Wound Healing. Curr Dermatol Rep. 2018;7(4):350-8.
- Desmoulière A, Redard M, Darby I, Gabbiani G. Apoptosis mediates the decrease in cellularity during the transition between granulation tissue and scar. Am J Pathol. 1995;146(1):56-66.
- 159. Madlener M, Parks WC, Werner S. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and their physiological inhibitors (TIMPs) are differentially expressed during excisional skin wound repair. Exp Cell Res. 1998;242(1):201-10.
- Tziotzios C, Profyris C, Sterling J. Cutaneous scarring: Pathophysiology, molecular mechanisms, and scar reduction therapeutics Part II. Strategies to reduce scar formation after dermatologic procedures. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2012;66(1):13-24; quiz 5-6.
- Landén NX, Li D, Ståhle M. Transition from inflammation to proliferation: a critical step during wound healing. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2016;73(20):3861-85.
- 162. Ahlström MG, Gjerdrum LMR, Larsen HF, Fuchs C, Sørensen AL, Forman JL, et al. Suction blister lesions and epithelialization monitored by optical coherence tomography. Skin Res Technol. 2018;24(1):65-72.
- 163. Daeschlein G, Alborova J, Patzelt A, Kramer A, Lademann J. Kinetics of physiological skin flora in a suction blister wound model on healthy subjects after treatment with water-filtered infrared-A radiation. Skin Pharmacol Physiol. 2012;25(2):73-7.
- 164. Larsen HF, Ahlström MG, Gjerdrum LMR, Mogensen M, Ghathian K, Calum H, et al. Noninvasive measurement of reepithelialization and microvascularity of suctionblister wounds with benchmarking to histology. Wound Repair Regen. 2017;25(6):984-93.
- 165. Wiegand I, Hilpert K, Hancock RE. Agar and broth dilution methods to determine the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of antimicrobial substances. Nat Protoc. 2008;3(2):163-75.

- Lehrer RI, Rosenman M, Harwig SS, Jackson R, Eisenhauer P. Ultrasensitive assays for endogenous antimicrobial polypeptides. J Immunol Methods. 1991;137(2):167-73.
- 167. Takemura H, Kaku M, Kohno S, Hirakata Y, Tanaka H, Yoshida R, et al. Evaluation of susceptibility of gram-positive and -negative bacteria to human defensins by using radial diffusion assay. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1996;40(10):2280-4.
- Karas M, Hillenkamp F. Laser desorption ionization of proteins with molecular masses exceeding 10,000 daltons. Anal Chem. 1988;60(20):2299-301.
- 169. Clark AE, Kaleta EJ, Arora A, Wolk DM. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry: a fundamental shift in the routine practice of clinical microbiology. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2013;26(3):547-603.
- 170. Balouiri M, Sadiki M, Ibnsouda SK. Methods for in vitro evaluating antimicrobial activity: A review. J Pharm Anal. 2016;6(2):71-9.
- 171. Salam MA, Al-Amin MY, Pawar JS, Akhter N, Lucy IB. Conventional methods and future trends in antimicrobial susceptibility testing. Saudi J Biol Sci. 2023;30(3):103582.
- 172. Meisel JS, Hannigan GD, Tyldsley AS, SanMiguel AJ, Hodkinson BP, Zheng Q, et al. Skin Microbiome Surveys Are Strongly Influenced by Experimental Design. J Invest Dermatol. 2016;136(5):947-56.
- 173. Dubois D, Leyssene D, Chacornac JP, Kostrzewa M, Schmit PO, Talon R, et al. Identification of a variety of Staphylococcus species by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48(3):941-5.
- 174. Stepanović S, Vuković D, Hola V, Di Bonaventura G, Djukić S, Cirković I, et al. Quantification of biofilm in microtiter plates: overview of testing conditions and practical recommendations for assessment of biofilm production by staphylococci. Apmis. 2007;115(8):891-9.
- 175. <MBEC_HTPInstructions_Rev1-3.pdf>.
- 176. Harrison JJ, Ceri H, Yerly J, Stremick CA, Hu Y, Martinuzzi R, et al. The use of microscopy and three-dimensional visualization to evaluate the structure of microbial biofilms cultivated in the Calgary Biofilm Device. Biological procedures online. 2006;8:194-215.
- 177. Virta M, Lineri S, Kankaanpää P, Karp M, Peltonen K, Nuutila J, et al. Determination of complement-mediated killing of bacteria by viability staining and bioluminescence. Applied and environmental microbiology. 1998;64(2):515-9.
- 178. Ockleford C. The confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM). J Pathol. 1995;176(1):1-2.
- 179. Fischer ER, Hansen BT, Nair V, Hoyt FH, Dorward DW. Scanning electron microscopy. Curr Protoc Microbiol. 2012;Chapter 2:Unit 2B..
- Peeters E, Nelis HJ, Coenye T. Comparison of multiple methods for quantification of microbial biofilms grown in microtiter plates. J Microbiol Methods. 2008;72(2):157-65.

- 181. Colombo I, Sangiovanni E, Maggio R, Mattozzi C, Zava S, Corbett Y, et al. HaCaT Cells as a Reliable In Vitro Differentiation Model to Dissect the Inflammatory/Repair Response of Human Keratinocytes. Mediators Inflamm. 2017;2017:7435621.
- 182. Kumar P, Nagarajan A, Uchil PD. Analysis of Cell Viability by the Lactate Dehydrogenase Assay. Cold Spring Harb Protoc. 2018;2018(6).
- 183. Kumar P, Nagarajan A, Uchil PD. Analysis of Cell Viability by the MTT Assay. Cold Spring Harb Protoc. 2018;2018(6).
- 184. Walker JM. The bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay for protein quantitation. Methods Mol Biol. 1994;32:5-8.
- Tabatabaei MS, Ahmed M. Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA). Methods Mol Biol. 2022;2508:115-34.
- 186. Jia R, Chen YX, Du YR, Hu BR. Meso-scale Discovery Assay Detects the Changes of Plasma Cytokine Levels in Mice after Low or High LET Ionizing Irradiation. Biomed Environ Sci. 2021;34(7):540-51.
- 187. Stigall W. The Hippocratic Oath. Linacre Q. 2022;89(3):275-86.
- 188. The Nuremberg Code. Jama. 1996;276(20):1691.
- Shrestha B, Dunn L. The Declaration of Helsinki on Medical Research involving Human Subjects: A Review of Seventh Revision. J Nepal Health Res Counc. 2020;17(4):548-52.
- 190. Allen HB, Vaze ND, Choi C, Hailu T, Tulbert BH, Cusack CA, et al. The presence and impact of biofilm-producing staphylococci in atopic dermatitis. JAMA Dermatol. 2014;150(3):260-5.
- 191. Bath-Hextall FJ, Birnie AJ, Ravenscroft JC, Williams HC. Interventions to reduce Staphylococcus aureus in the management of atopic eczema: an updated Cochrane review. The British journal of dermatology. 2011;164(1):228.
- 192. Harkins CP, McAleer MA, Bennett D, McHugh M, Fleury OM, Pettigrew KA, et al. The widespread use of topical antimicrobials enriches for resistance in Staphylococcus aureus isolated from patients with atopic dermatitis. The British journal of dermatology. 2018;179(4):951-8.
- 193. Huang JT, Abrams M, Tlougan B, Rademaker A, Paller AS. Treatment of Staphylococcus aureus colonization in atopic dermatitis decreases disease severity. Pediatrics. 2009;123(5):e808-14.
- 194. Khadka VD, Key FM, Romo-González C, Martínez-Gayosso A, Campos-Cabrera BL, Gerónimo-Gallegos A, et al. The Skin Microbiome of Patients With Atopic Dermatitis Normalizes Gradually During Treatment. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021;11:720674.
- 195. Morrissey I, Oggioni MR, Knight D, Curiao T, Coque T, Kalkanci A, et al. Evaluation of epidemiological cut-off values indicates that biocide resistant subpopulations are uncommon in natural isolates of clinically-relevant microorganisms. PloS one. 2014;9(1):e86669.

- 196. Shi VY, Foolad N, Ornelas JN, Hassoun LA, Monico G, Takeda N, et al. Comparing the effect of bleach and water baths on skin barrier function in atopic dermatitis: a split-body randomized controlled trial. The British journal of dermatology. 2016;175(1):212-4.
- 197. Gurtner GC, Werner S, Barrandon Y, Longaker MT. Wound repair and regeneration. Nature. 2008;453(7193):314-21.
- 198. Nayeri F. Occlusive bandaging of wounds with decreased circulation promotes growth of anaerobic bacteria and necrosis: case report. BMC Res Notes. 2016;9:394.
- 199. Kligman AM, Leyden JJ, McGinley KJ. Bacteriology. J Invest Dermatol. 1976;67(1):160-8.
- Buda A, Międzobrodzki J. The Role of Staphylococcus aureus in Secondary Infections in Patients with Atopic Dermatitis (AD). Pol J Microbiol. 2016;65(3):253-9.
- 201. Saleh K, Strömdahl AC, Riesbeck K, Schmidtchen A. Inflammation Biomarkers and Correlation to Wound Status After Full-Thickness Skin Grafting. Front Med (Lausanne). 2019;6:159.
- 202. Spear M. Wound exudate--the good, the bad, and the ugly. Plast Surg Nurs. 2012;32(2):77-9.
- 203. Kirchner S, Lei V, MacLeod AS. The Cutaneous Wound Innate Immunological Microenvironment. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(22).
- 204. Borregaard N, Cowland JB. Granules of the human neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocyte. Blood. 1997;89(10):3503-21.
- 205. Bickel M. The role of interleukin-8 in inflammation and mechanisms of regulation. J Periodontol. 1993;64(5 Suppl):456-60.
- 206. Nakashima C, Yanagihara S, Otsuka A. Innovation in the treatment of atopic dermatitis: Emerging topical and oral Janus kinase inhibitors. Allergol Int. 2022;71(1):40-6.

About the author



FACULTY OF

MEDICINE

Sigrid Lundgren is currently completing her residency at the Department of Dermatology and Venereology at Skåne University Hospital, Lund. Her research interests includes topical antimicrobial treatments for atopic dermatitis and exploring the intricate mechanics of wound healing.



Department of Dermatology and Venereology Skane University Hospital

> Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:65 ISBN 978-91-8021-559-6 ISSN 1652-8220

